

This report is a product of the policy series, *Marginalized Girls: Creating Pathways to Opportunity*, hosted by the Georgetown Center on Poverty, Inequality and Public Policy, in partnership with The National Crittenton Foundation, and Human Rights Project for Girls.

GENEROUS SUPPORT PROVIDED BY:

The Atlantic Philanthropies
The Annie E. Casey Foundation
The Open Society Foundations' Special Fund for Poverty Alleviation

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Many individuals made important contributions to this report. In particular, Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi from Connecticut, Lawanda Ravoira and Vanessa Patino Lydia from Florida, and Lynn Wu from Stanislaus County, California spent countless hours providing feedback on drafts and ensuring that we told the whole story of the reform efforts in their states. We owe each of them profuse thanks. The case studies profiled here are really their stories.

The Annie E. Casey Foundation, Open Society Foundations' Special Fund for Poverty Alleviation and the Atlantic Philanthropies provided support for *Marginalized Girls*: Creating Pathways to Opportunity, a two-year policy series focused on making policy recommendations to improve public systems' responses to the challenges facing marginalized girls and young women. We are tremendously grateful to these foundations for investing their money, time and interest in this project. This report is, in many ways, an intellectual outgrowth of what we learned from participants in a meeting of the policy series that we held on September 23, 2011, and later conversations with many of the participants.

The Georgetown Center on Poverty, Inequality and Public Policy's organizational partners in the policy series, The National Crittenton Foundation and the Human Rights Project for Girls, helped conceive and execute the meeting on gender-responsive juvenile justice reform, as well as all of the other meetings in the series. Jeannette Pai-Espinosa, Mary Bissell, and Jennifer Miller of The National Crittenton Foundation have been wonderful partners in the series and provided helpful feedback on drafts of this report. Likewise, Malika Saada Saar and K. Shakira Washington of the Human Rights Project for Girls gave important feedback. Jessi Leigh Swenson, also of the Human Rights Project for Girls, drafted many of the federal reform recommendations in this report. Rebecca Epstein, who succeeded Liz Watson as Executive Director of the Georgetown Center on Poverty, Inequality and Public Policy, expertly guided this report toward publication. The report was strengthened by her editorial insights.

Our research assistants, Brian Gilmore, Marnie Kaplan, Liz Schiller and Lizzy Watson, provided significant support with research and citations in the document, for which we are extremely grateful.

We also thank Ned Loughran for his thoughtful advice as we planned the meeting of the girls' policy series on state and local gender-responsive juvenile justice reform.

As always, Liz Ryan offered wise counsel. She rightly encouraged us to underscore those federal and state reform measures that are needed so badly for both girls and boys in the juvenile justice system. Michael Harris read and commented on the draft, providing terrific and detailed suggestions. Many others advised us along the way, including Marsha Levick and Fran Sherman.

Participants in our September 23, 2011 meeting on gender-responsive juvenile justice reform made too many contributions to the thinking behind this paper to list them here. We thank everyone who was a part of that effort: Leslie Acoca, Joyce Capelle, Stephanie Covington, Jenny Egan, Timene L. Farlow, Jessica Feierman, Nancy Gannon Hornberger, Barbara Gault, Sarah Brown Hammond, Kristi Holsinger, Candice Jones, Lori M. Kaplan, Lara Kaufmann, Sonia Kumar, Marsha Levick, Ned Loughran, Vanessa Patino Lydia, Katayoon Majd, Mary Marx, Catherine Pierce, Wendy Pollack, Judge Karen Radius, Liz Ryan, Kim Selvaggi, Nadiyah Shereff, Dana Shoenberg, and Lynn Wu.

Likewise, we thank the Board of Advisors to our policy series for moving the policy dialogue on marginalized girls forward and for encouraging us to pursue this particular topic. Our Board of Advisors for this policy series included: Leslie Acoca, John Bouman, Betsy Brand, Joyce Capelle, Stephanie Covington, Barbara Gault, Lori Kaplan, Lara Kaufmann, Lisette Orellana, The Honorable Karen Radius, Nadiyah Shereff, and Adria Steinberg.

IMPROVING THE JUVENILE JUSTICE SYSTEM FOR GIRLS

ii iii

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Improving the Juvenile Justice System for Girls: Lessons from the States examines the challenges facing girls in the juvenile justice system and makes recommendations for gender-responsive reform at the local, state, and federal levels.

This report emerged from the policy series—Marginalized Girls: Creating Pathways to Opportunity—convened by the Georgetown Center on Poverty, Inequality, and Public Policy, The National Crittenton Foundation, and the Human Rights Project for Girls. The series focuses on improving public systems' responses to the challenges facing marginalized girls and young women.

The problems facing girls in the juvenile justice system were among the first issues to be addressed in the policy series, in a meeting held at Georgetown University Law Center on September 23, 2011. State reformers, national policy experts, advocates, practitioners, researchers and girls made contributions and insights during that meeting that inspired this report.

Girls make up a growing percentage of the juvenile justice population, and a significant body of research and practice shows that their needs are not being met by a juvenile justice system that was designed for boys.

The typical girl in the system is a non-violent offender, who is very often low-risk, but high-need, meaning the girl poses little risk to the public but she enters the system with significant and pressing personal needs. The set of challenges that girls often face as they enter the juvenile justice system include trauma, violence, neglect, mental and physical problems, family conflict, pregnancy, residential and academic instability, and school failure. The juvenile justice system only exacerbates these problems by failing to provide girls with services at the time when they need them most.

During the past twenty years, there has been a growing effort to reform the juvenile justice system for girls on the local, state, and federal level. This report chronicles the history of those efforts and renews the drumbeat for reform, urging more advocates to take up the cause of girls in the juvenile justice system.

To facilitate their efforts, this report provides:

- A review of literature documenting girls' particular pathways into the juvenile justice system
- A brief history of recent gender-responsive, traumainformed reform efforts
- Detailed case studies of recent reform efforts in three jurisdictions: Connecticut, Florida, and Stanislaus County, California.

While the precise trajectory of reform in each of the three jurisdictions differs, they share common elements. These elements form the basic architecture of gender-responsive juvenile justice reform at the state and local level:

- Research to Diagnose the Problem
- Public Education Campaign
- Strategic Planning
- Engagement of Key Stakeholders, Including Girls
- Legislation
- Staff Training
- Community-Based Diversion and Prevention Programs
- Pilot and Demonstration Projects
- Outcome Measures and Evaluation
- Technical Assistance
- Funding and Sustainability

Federal policy has been instrumental in seeding state and local gender-responsive reform efforts. This report recommends that the federal government take the following steps to support these reforms:

- Conduct research on programs for girls, particularly regarding best practices in gender-responsive programming, and conditions of confinement for girls
- Develop a stronger, standardized assessment tool for girls entering the system
- Require at least one member of each State Advisory Group (SAG) to have expertise in gender-specific female services

- Mandate a comprehensive effort by the U.S.
 Department of Justice to improve training and technical assistance for better recognition of the unique needs of marginalized girls among judges, law enforcement, and juvenile justice staff
- Allocate federal funding and encourage states to apply for federal funding for gender-specific programming
- Convene interagency working groups at the federal and state levels to address the needs of marginalized girls and young women
- Close the loophole that currently allows states to detain youths for technical violations of court

- orders—a practice that has a disproportionate impact on girls
- Encourage the development of national standards for gender-responsive programming
- Promote policies to keep girls out of the adult criminal justice system

As this report demonstrates, reformers can make real differences in the lives of girls who are involved in, or at risk of entering into, the juvenile justice system. The set of strategies offered in the report are designed to aid future reform efforts.



рното: Trista Pag

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. INTRODUCTION
- 2. Girls' Pathways into the Juvenile Justice System
- **3.** A Brief History of Recent Girl-Focused Reform Efforts
- 7. LEARNING FROM STATE & LOCAL INNOVATION
- **7.** Connecticut
- 13. Florida
- 19. Stanislaus County, California
- **25.** THE ARCHITECTURE OF STATE & LOCAL REFORM
- **25.** Research to Diagnose the Problem
- 27. A Public Education Campaign
- **28.** Strategic Planning
- **28.** Recruitment of Key Stakeholders
- **30.** Legislation
- **31.** Leadership
- **31.** Staff Training
- **32.** Community-Based Diversion and Prevention Programs
- **33.** Pilot and Demonstration Projects
- **34.** Outcome Measures and Evaluation
- **35.** Technical Assistance
- **35.** Funding and Sustainability
- **37.** FEDERAL POLICY
 RECOMMENDATIONS TO
 SUPPORT STATE &
 LOCAL REFORM EFFORTS
- 41. CONCLUSION



INTRODUCTION

Girls make up the fastest growing segment of the juvenile justice system. As a group, they are disproportionately "high need" and "low risk," meaning that they face a host of challenges and have a critical need for services, but, for the most part, do not pose a significant threat to the public. The differences between the profiles and service needs of girls and boys entering the juvenile justice system present a significant challenge for the professionals who serve them. Many girls in the system have experienced traumatic events, including sexual and physical abuse and neglect, which have deeply wounded them emotionally and physically. Overall, the juvenile justice system is ill-equipped to serve girls effectively, having failed to implement the reforms called for by a growing body of research on the needs of the girls in its care.²

Girls are still far outnumbered by boys in the juvenile justice system. For example, in 2010, 337,450 girls in the United States were arrested and criminally charged, as compared to 816,646 boys.³ Meanwhile, a snapshot taken in October 2003 found that girls accounted for 15 percent of juvenile offenders in residential placements nationwide.⁴

However, the proportion of girls in the juvenile justice system continues to grow. In 2006, 7,995 girls under age eighteen were committed to juvenile residential placements and an additional 4,458 girls were in detention centers.⁵ In recent years, while arrest rates for both girls and boys have slowed down, the slowdown has been more sluggish for girls. In 2010, boys' arrests had decreased by 26.5 percent since 2001, while girls' arrests had decreased by only 15.5 percent.⁶

Data from the previous decade show a significant rise in the number of girls in detention and placement.

Between 1991 and 2003, girls' detentions rose by 98 percent, compared to a 29 percent increase in boys' detentions.⁷ Girls' commitments to facilities increased by 88 percent between 1991 and 2003, while boys' commitments increased by only 23 percent.⁸ Some of this increase is likely related to increased rates of arrest for non-serious and domestic-related incidents. But it may also signal the lack of appropriate community-based alternatives to detention and residential facilities for girls and young women.

Research suggests differences between girls and boys in patterns of offenses and in the way that those offenses are processed. For example, girls are far more likely than boys to be detained for non-serious offenses. 10 In 2006, technical probation violations and status offenses accounted for 25 percent of boys' detentions, but 41 percent of girls'. 11 Technical violations can include comparatively minor offenses, such as violating curfew, missing a meeting with a probation officer, truancy, or violating another probation condition. 12 Status offenses involve activity that is only a crime when committed by a youth, including truancy, running away, violating curfew laws, and underage drinking.¹³ In contrast to girls' disproportionate arrests for such relatively minor offenses, girls comprise less than 10 percent of arrests of juveniles for violent crime overall.¹⁴

Among experts in the field of juvenile justice reform for girls, there is broad agreement that stemming the tide of girls' involvement in the system requires radically expanding community and public resources for prevention and front-end diversion programs. ¹⁵ Likewise, there is widespread agreement that appropriately serving the girls who are already in the juvenile justice system will require significant changes to policy and practice. And there is almost no

disagreement that girls do not belong at all in the adult criminal justice system.

With the objectives of exploring and recommending gender-responsive policy and practice reforms, The Georgetown Center on Poverty, Inequality and Public Policy ("Center"), The National Crittenton Foundation, and The Human Rights Project for Girls convened a meeting on September 23, 2011 that included leading state reformers, national policy experts, researchers and girls involved in the juvenile justice system. This meeting was part of a public policy series—Marginalized Girls: Creating Pathways to Opportunity—to be convened by the three organizations between 2011 and 2013. Meeting participants examined recent state- and local-level efforts to improve the systems and services for girls involved in, or at risk of being involved in, the juvenile justice system.

ROADMAP

Building on what we learned from participants in that meeting and subsequent research, this report:

 reviews literature documenting girls' particular pathways into the juvenile justice system



 describes the need for gender-responsive, trauma-informed approaches to juvenile justice reform



documents recent reform efforts in three jurisdictions



 makes policy recommendations for state and local reforms and describes how the federal government can support these reform efforts.

Girls' Pathways into the Juvenile Justice System

There is a significant body of literature chronicling girls' pathways into the juvenile justice system. It describes the disproportionate detention and adjudication of girls for status offenses and technical violations of probation. Despite growing consensus about the need for alternatives to detention for status-offending youth, many of whom are girls, many status offenders, including girls, continue to receive inappropriately harsh treatment. While the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act of 1974 prohibits detaining status offenders, the Valid Court Order exception enacted by Congress in 1980 created an enormous loophole in this prohibition. Under that exception, girls are still routinely detained for status offenses.

The literature also documents girls' chaotic home lives, which often include violence in the household, parental incarceration, death of a parent or sibling, and residential instability. 19 It describes the trauma, abuse, neglect and other forms of violence that are common among this population.²⁰ According to a study of 96 female wards from the California Youth Authority, Ventura School, "74 percent reported being hurt or in danger of being hurt, 76 percent reported witnessing someone being severely injured or killed, and 60 percent reported being raped or in danger of being raped," at some point in their lives. 21 Another study of 319 girls in the juvenile justice system in Florida found that 64 percent reported past abuse, including 37 percent reporting abuse by a parent; 55 percent reporting abuse by someone other than a parent; and 27 percent reporting both types of abuse.²²

Not surprisingly, girls also enter the juvenile justice system with significant health problems. Often, girls will enter detention and receive medical attention for pressing health problems that previously went unattended.²³ A study of 1000 girls in detention in California found that 88 percent had a serious mental

or physical health problem.²⁴ Health needs related to pregnancy and childbirth are common; 29 percent of the girls in this same study had been pregnant at least once, and 16 percent had been pregnant while incarcerated. ²⁵

Family problems are common. In the study of 319 girls in the juvenile justice system in Florida, family dysfunction and ineffective parental supervision were factors for more than 70 percent of girls in residential and 64 percent of girls in non-residential programs. ²⁶ More than half of the girls indicated that their parents had been referred to the state child welfare system for abuse and more than a third reported being abused by their parents. ²⁷ Offenses against family (considered domestic offenses in many states) make up a substantial proportion of the offenses committed by girls. In the Florida study, 61 percent of the girls studied had committed an offense against a family member. ²⁸

Instability is another major theme in many of these girls' lives. Of those girls in the Florida study whose parents had been referred to the child welfare system, nearly 60 percent reported living in an out-of-home, non-Division of Juvenile Justice placement, including foster care.²⁹ A majority reported parental involvement in the juvenile justice system and parental histories of substance abuse; 30 percent reported moving more than 10 times in their lifetimes.³⁰

Trauma, poor health, family conflict, and residential instability of girls in the juvenile justice system are also connected to poor educational outcomes, with a majority of girls in the juvenile justice system having frequently missed school and failing academically.³¹ Both girls and boys get caught in a "school-to-prison" pipeline through zero-tolerance policies in schools, which often lead to severe disciplinary actions like suspension, expulsion, and the involvement of law enforcement for problems that would previously have been handled through less punitive internal school processes.³²

Detention and placement settings often are not designed to address problems specific to girls: trauma and abuse, other mental and physical health problems, and the needs of pregnant and parenting girls.³³ Because there are so few facilities designed to specifically serve girls, some are placed in secure facilities that are far from home.³⁴ This makes it difficult to repair broken relationships with family and friends, and often leads to estrangement from families and communities. Many detention and placement settings do not make a serious and sustained effort to help girls get on the path to success in school and in the workforce.

In some cases, girls who have suffered trauma are re-traumatized by their experiences in the juvenile justice system.³⁵ Helping these girls heal from trauma and abuse is critically important, but many juvenile justice agencies lack the knowledge and training about what services are useful to assist these girls in their recovery. As reformers have noted for more than twenty years, there are simply too few programs and services equipped to serve the particular needs of this population.

Brief History of Recent Girl-Focused Reform Efforts

During the past two decades, there has been a growing effort to reform the juvenile justice system for girls at the federal level and in individual states and localities.

The 1992 reauthorization of the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act was the impetus behind significant state-level reform.³⁶ Sections 223 (a) (7) (A) and (B) of the Act required states to assess how their juvenile justice programs were serving girls and take steps to implement gender-responsive plans to better serve them.³⁷ The Act also included significant funding for gender-responsive programming through a Challenge Grant program which allowed states to receive federal funding to

implement reforms in particular areas of concern identified by the federal government.³⁸ Twenty-three states applied for and received funding under this program—more states than applied for any other individual Challenge Grant activity.³⁹

A 1998 report released by the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (OJJDP) chronicled the reform efforts of the twenty-five states supported by these Challenge Grants and put forward the following guidelines for gender-responsive reform efforts:⁴⁰

- Programs should be all female whenever possible;
- Girls should be treated in the least restrictive environment, whenever possible;
- Programs should be close to girls' homes in order to maintain family relationships;
- Programs should be consistent with female development and stress the role of relationships between staff members and girls; and
- Programs should address the needs of parenting and pregnant teens.⁴¹

This report also provided a set of recommendations to states undertaking reform efforts:

- Establish a representative stakeholder group to generate reform ideas and implement them;
- Assess how the juvenile justice system in a particular state processes girls and the existence of gender-specific services;
- Create specific programming to respond to service gaps; and
- Provide staff with training in female development.⁴²

Advocates' and foundations' efforts were also instrumental in laying the groundwork for reform. For example, in 1999, the American Bar Association wrote a seminal piece on the particular pathways that girls take into the system, which drew significant national attention to the issue.⁴³ The Annie E. Casey Foundation's Juvenile Detention Alternatives Initiative



provided support for various gender-responsive reform efforts, as documented by Fran Sherman in her 2005 piece, "Pathways to Juvenile Detention Reform – Detention Reform and Girls: Challenges and Solutions."

In 2004, OJJDP convened a Girls Study Group consisting of researchers and practitioners to "develop a research foundation that [would] enable communities to make sound decisions about how best to prevent and reduce delinquency and violence by girls." In 2008, the Girls Study Group reviewed 61 gender-responsive programs across the United States and found only

17 of these had been evaluated by federal or state authorities, with none meeting the OJJDP's criteria for "effectiveness."⁴⁶

In 2009, the House Judiciary Committee's Subcommittee on Crime, Terrorism and Homeland Security held a hearing on "Girls in the Juvenile Justice System: Strategies to Help Girls Achieve their Full Potential." In 2010, The House Education and Labor Committee's Subcommittee on Healthy Families and Communities held a hearing on "Meeting the Challenges Faced by Girls in the Juvenile Justice System."

Also in 2010, OJJDP partnered with the National Council on Crime and Delinquency to create the National Girls Institute.⁴⁹ The National Girls Institute is led by experienced and successful girls' juvenile justice reformers Lawanda Ravoira and Vanessa Patino Lydia. It is charged with developing and providing a range of training, technical assistance and resources to tribal, community, and private organizations that serve at risk and delinquent girls.⁵⁰

Gender-responsive reform efforts are hampered, of course, by the harsh reality of declining federal investment in programs to reduce delinquency, which has declined 50 percent overall since FY 2002.⁵¹ The majority of funding for juvenile justice programs comes from the states, and states' budgets have been dramatically reduced as they absorb the blow of the current fiscal crisis. And while a lack of state funding is often cited as the reason for recent closures of a number of juvenile facilities, the resulting savings have not been reinvested in front-end services for girls or boys.⁵² Because girls are often "lower risk" than boys, financial challenges can easily result in cutting existing interventions and programs that serve girls.⁵³

Although there has been some significant progress toward improving the system for girls in individual states, statewide efforts to reform the juvenile justice system for girls are still few and far between. There is also scant information available about the few gender-focused

reforms that have occurred. Since OJJDP's 1998 report on the status of girl-focused state reforms, no publication has been issued canvassing girls' reform efforts throughout the United States or charting progress. Few gender-responsive programs have been evaluated, leaving reformers with little concrete information on what works. Recognizing the need for more information, OJDDP issued grants in 2011 for the evaluation of "the effectiveness of delinquency prevention, intervention, and/or treatment programs in preventing and reducing girls' risk behavior and offending." This is an important step in the right direction. 55

Advocates who are focused on improving the juvenile justice system for girls frequently call for more "gender-responsive" programming, which has been defined in various ways. We provide a definition from Fran Sherman's work below.⁵⁶

DEFINING GENDER-RESPONSIVE PROGRAMMING

The following are often identified as core elements of gender-responsive programming:

- Comprehensive—weaving family, community, and systems together for girls;
- **Safe**—promoting healing from trauma caused by physical and psychological abuse;
- Empowering—addressing needs while encouraging leadership and the development of girls' strengths;
- Community and Family Focused—based in the community, fostering healthy family relationships and sustainable community connections; and
- Relational—supporting continuous, positive relationships for girls with older women, family, and community.

L. M. J. O. C. C.

LEARNING FROM STATE & LOCAL INNOVATION

ender-responsive reform efforts in a number of states and localities have integrated many of the core elements described above into their policies, programs and practices. Participants in the September 23, 2011 meeting at Georgetown Law provided rich and detailed accounts of gender-responsive reform efforts under way in Connecticut, Florida and Stanislaus County, California. Although many of the participants have dedicated their lives and careers to achieving reforms for girls in the juvenile justice system, the stories that were told about how individual states and localities made progress were previously unknown to most of the participants. This meeting provided a rare opportunity for those who are on the front lines of progress in their states to come together to compare notes and think collectively about how to move forward.

Building on what we learned in that meeting and from our own research, the goal of this paper is to analyze the building blocks of system-wide reform efforts during the past decade in several key states profiled in our meeting, and to provide other states with a blueprint for reform. We hope that this information will be useful to those interested in accelerating the pace of change in their own states.

This section provides detailed case studies of reforms undertaken in Connecticut and Florida, as well as a snapshot of a more recent reform effort in Stanislaus County, California. While this report highlights innovation in each of these jurisdictions, reformers from each are quick to point out that their work is far from done, and that while there have been successes in some areas, there have also been some failures. We offer these three case studies in the spirit of progress.

Connecticut

For more than a decade, Connecticut has been engaged in a systemic and multi-pronged effort to improve its juvenile justice system for girls and young women. These efforts reflect an impressive willingness to embrace change and innovation. As the following case study illustrates, through this set of reforms, Connecticut has made significant improvements to its probation, detention and diversion systems for girls.⁵⁷

Connecticut's gender-responsive juvenile justice reforms emerged out of a larger effort to improve conditions for all children in Connecticut's juvenile justice system. Advocates described conditions of confinement in the early 1990s as "horrendous" with little to no rehabilitative programming, medical care or health care available to children in the system.⁵⁸ In 1993, advocates brought the "Emily J." lawsuit alleging numerous violations of the rights of children in detention.⁵⁹ The Center for Children's Advocacy, under the direction of Martha Stone, represented the children in the lawsuit, which settled in 1997. That settlement is credited with dramatically improving conditions of confinement for youth, including improving access to education, mental and physical health care, and recreation. The court appointed a monitor to oversee the state's compliance with the settlement. Over time, the court-ordered requirements for better services and less punitive approaches became ingrained in Connecticut's juvenile justice system.60

In 1999, the Connecticut Judicial Branch reorganized, creating a Court Supportive Services Division (CSSD), which is responsible for alternatives to sanctions and juvenile detention and probation.⁶¹ Around this time, the CSSD received a planning grant for Alternative

Sanctions and Services for Court-Involved Girls from OJJDP and the Bureau of Justice Assistance (BJA).⁶² The grant required Connecticut to establish a Girls Steering Committee, and provided a small amount of resources for Connecticut to begin planning and developing gender-specific services for girls under age 16 in the court system.⁶³

KEY ELEMENTS OF CONNECTICUT'S REFORMS

- Advocacy for gender responsive programming, both from outside and within the juvenile justice system
- Research that created a profile of courtinvolved girls in Connecticut's juvenile justice system, including identification of pathways, and assessment of the gaps in the systems and services provided in Connecticut
- **Public investment** in reform—first from OJJDP and then the state budget
- Collaboration across the different systems that serve girls involved in the juvenile justice system in Connecticut
- Enactment of key pieces of legislation requiring gender-responsive programming and prohibiting the detention of status offenders
- Creation of **new standards** of genderresponsive treatment for girls in the system
- Training for probation, detention, and service providers on gender responsive principles and practices, and
- Development of **new programs**, including gender-specific probation, improvements to the treatment of girls in detention, and a temporary respite care facility diversion program for status offenders.

Federal funding allowed for the rapid identification of the needs of girls in Connecticut and shortcomings in the way they were being served within the existing juvenile justice system, as well as the development and implementation of improvements. Early assessments of the treatment of girls in the juvenile justice system showed that girls were often being incarcerated for status offenses simply because of the unavailability of diversion programs. ⁶⁴ This finding propelled reformers forward. In the early to mid-2000s, a series of state laws were enacted that increased the availability of diversion programming and stopped the incarceration of status offenders. ⁶⁵

The resources underpinning this effort were modest. Yearly funding to the CSSD for gender-responsive programming hovered between \$150,000 and \$200,000.66 Initial funding came from the federal government, and in the later years, funding was provided by the Connecticut legislature. 67 According to Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, Girls' Program Manager for the CSSD, the grants received from the federal government were significant not simply because of the resources they provided, but also because they brought the key people together to focus on the problems facing girls in the juvenile justice system, and prioritized girl-specific reform efforts at the highest levels of government. Reapplying for federal grants every year required an ongoing and sustained effort from staff and administration.68

Girls Grant Steering Committee members included representatives from the judiciary, the Office of the Chief Public Defender, the Department of Children and Families, and other important stakeholders. Grant requirements outlined strict timelines to achieve objectives, which gave staff the ability to move gender-responsive initiatives forward quickly. William Carbone, Executive Director of CSSD, provided the support and leadership necessary to establish and sustain reform efforts. To



Advocacy organizations played key roles in strategic planning, enactment of legislation, and litigation that supported these efforts for more than a decade. In particular, the Center for Children's Advocacy and the Connecticut Juvenile Justice Alliance were critical to achieving gender-responsive reforms.⁷¹

A chronological history of significant events in Connecticut's reform efforts is provided below.

Reformers developed and promoted a new set of standards. The Center for Best Practices, which was established by CSSD in 2001, provided up-to-date research and evidence-based program models for adult and juvenile offenders, including for girls.⁷² A new full-time staff position was created—the Program Manager for Girls' Services—which helped ensure a sustained focus on gender-responsive programming.⁷³

A Connecticut law required gender-responsive programming. In 2001, the Office of the Child Advocate, the Center for Children's Advocacy and the Permanent Commission on the Status of Women convened system leaders to develop and advocate for legislation requiring the juvenile justice system to "create and maintain programs for juvenile offenders that are gender-specific in that they comprehensively address the unique needs of a targeted gender group."74 This legislation did not provide funding.⁷⁵ But it did lay the groundwork for the Connecticut legislature to later include funding for gender-responsive reforms in the state budget. That state funding became critically important, after federal funding ended. The legislation also established a statewide, system-wide mandate for establishing and maintaining gender-responsive programs, setting the stage for reform efforts that would occur in later years.⁷⁶

Academic researchers conducted a high-quality needs assessment of girls in Connecticut's juvenile justice system and service gaps. In March of 2002, the University of Connecticut's School of Social Work released a report on girls in Connecticut's juvenile justice system. This research, which was supported by federal funding, was one of the first steps on Connecticut's road to reform. Through this work, Connecticut officials gained a better understanding of the needs of girls in the system and gaps in programming and service delivery.

Girls in Connecticut's detention system were often low-risk but high-need.⁷⁸ The report shows that girls made up 34 percent of Connecticut's juvenile justice system, but only a very low number of these girls had committed felony offenses.⁷⁹ Almost half of the girls referred to the court system were first referred for status offenses.⁸⁰ 88 percent of girls who were adjudicated delinquent, and placed at the state's only secure facility for adjudicated juveniles, were status offenders.⁸¹ Researchers also found significant service deficits in Connecticut's probation, diversion, detention and



рното: Bob Madden

supported the later development of a respite care program for high-need, status-offending girls. ⁸³
Based on the needs and service gaps researchers found, reformers sought more community-based programs for girls. During the early years of reform, CSSD implemented two single-sex community detention centers for girls as an alternative to the state-run co-ed detention facilities. ⁸⁴ While this was a critically important first step, it quickly became clear that single-sex programming did not in itself result in a gender-responsive facility. For example, a review of community detention centers conducted in 2002 found that staff at these centers needed training in gender-specific approaches, and that the detention centers did not have a safe program culture

alternatives to detention for girls.82 These findings

for girls. ⁸⁵ The review also found that restraints and isolation were used for girls at unnecessarily high rates. ⁸⁶ Following this review, a multi-year project was launched in 2003 that included continued assessment of programming practices, staff training, and gender-responsive and trauma-informed programmatic changes. Results included elimination of restraints, elimination of isolation ("room time"), reduction in worker compensation claims, and increases in the perceived safety of facilities among both facility staff and girls, as reflected in surveys. ⁸⁷

Connecticut enacted legislation improving programming for status offenders. Pursuant to a law passed in 2004,⁸⁸ the Department of Children and Families (DCF), in collaboration with CSSD, the Department of Social Services (DSS), the Office of the Child Advocate (OCA), advocates, and community providers, developed specific recommendations for a continuum of community-based services for girls involved in the juvenile justice system.⁸⁹

During this time, the DCF Program Director of Girls Services and the CSSD Program Manager for Girls Services established a solid partnership. Their partnership helped ensure that programs across the juvenile justice system—whether administered by DCF or CSSD—consistently applied the same gender-responsive principles. In Connecticut, CSSD is responsible for all pre-adjudication services and programs, including probation and detention, on and DCF is responsible for the children adjudicated delinquent and committed for placement, and also for juveniles on parole. This collaboration was critical to successfully implementing gender-responsive programming for girls at all stages of their involvement in Connecticut's juvenile justice system.

Reformers developed innovative programs to meet the need for more community-based services for status offenders. In 2004 and 2005, CSSD piloted a respite care program in two cities, with 6 beds each, designed to divert status offending girls from further court involvement and detention. Many of the girls entering the court system for status offenses were there essentially because their parents had turned them over to the system, believing themselves unable to care for their children. To address this need, Connecticut created the CARE program to provide temporary respite care for status-offending girls who would otherwise likely end up in the detention system. Girls stayed in this program from 3 to 14 days. The program was designed as a "bridge to home-based, family-centered treatment." The program projected it would serve anywhere from 100 to 150 girls each year.

Connecticut passed legislation prohibiting detention of status offenders. In 2007, Connecticut implemented legislation enacted in 2005 which prohibited the detention of status offenders and required treatment and services for these offenders. ⁹⁵ The Center for Children's Advocacy played a leading role in securing passage of this legislation, with support from the Tow and Alliance Foundations.

This legislation directed funding to CSSD to design and implement Family Support Centers for status-offending juveniles in an effort to divert them from court involvement entirely. While this effort targeted both male and female status offenders, the model incorporated gender-responsive principles and required services to be gender-responsive for both girls and boys. This legislation helped slow the pipeline of status offending girls and boys into the deep end of the juvenile justice system. It also created a "Families with Service Needs Advisory Board." One of the mandates for the Board was to examine the needs of girls in the juvenile justice system.

In 2006, Connecticut passed "Raise the Age" legislation removing 16- and 17-year- olds from automatic prosecution in adult court. 99 This legislation was implemented in 2009 for 16-year-olds

and was implemented in July 2012 for 17-year-olds. As a result, thousands of youths, including girls, are no longer automatically prosecuted in adult criminal court and placed pre-trial or post-conviction in adult prison. This is a substantial improvement for girls in Connecticut's justice system because they are no longer subjected to inappropriate treatment in the adult justice system. The Connecticut Juvenile Justice Alliance, a nonprofit advocacy organization, played a key role in securing passage of this legislation, with the Tow Foundation again providing significant financial support to that effort.¹⁰⁰

Reformers implemented a gender-responsive probation model. In 2006, juvenile probation leader Julia O'Leary successfully advocated hiring additional officers to sustain the implementation of a genderresponsive probation model. 101 Probation officers at thirteen sites were trained in gender-responsive principles and given a girls-only caseload not to exceed 25 girls. 102 These officers continued to receive ongoing training and frequent technical assistance from a designated project coordinator. The model equipped officers to identify root causes of girls' problems and to connect girls to programs and services designed to address their problems. 103 Later, the Department of Children and Families utilized the probation model as the foundation for enhancements to Parole Services. A current evaluation of the model has uncovered areas of strength and areas in need of improvement. 104 CSSD's Kimball Robbins, a key player in enhancing Connecticut's system, is leading current efforts to use these research findings to enhance overall outcomes for girls on probation.

Collaboration among girl-serving systems improved service delivery. Between 2005 and 2007 the various agencies serving girls in the juvenile justice system engaged in a multi-system collaboration to improve systems and services for justice-involved girls. The Connecticut Women's Consortium encouraged this collaboration as part of its effort to unite and mobilize

state agency leaders on girls and women's issues. ¹⁰⁵ Collaborating agencies included the Department of Children and Families, the Department of Mental Health and Addiction Services, the Department of Corrections, and the Judicial Branch. ¹⁰⁶ They met regularly to discuss cross-system approaches to helping system-involved girls and women. During the course of this collaboration, CSSD and DCF decided to work together on a joint set of cross-agency standards for girls' programming to be implemented in both agencies. ¹⁰⁷

Reformers have implemented quality assurance efforts. Between 2007 and 2012, Connecticut continued to develop and refine its gender-responsive programs and to implement a model of quality assurance. ¹⁰⁸ As part of CSSD's ongoing efforts to establish a research- and evidence-based service continuum, quality assurance is regularly conducted for all programs and services, including probation. The quality assurance (QA) model requires that QA coaches are trained in gender-responsive and research- and evidence-based interventions, and that they provide regular QA reviews of taped individual and group sessions with clients and feedback to practitioners, addressing both practitioner strengths and challenges. ¹⁰⁹

Advocates and agency officials alike in Connecticut continue to work on maintaining the gains made for girls and boys in Connecticut's system over the past decade and further improving Connecticut's juvenile justice system. Two of their recent efforts include ensuring that training for staff continues on an ongoing basis and securing enforcement of the standards written into government contracts. Connecticut's CSSD was recently selected by The Georgetown Center for Juvenile Justice Reform as one of four recipients of technical assistance through the Juvenile Justice System Improvement Project. This initiative will encourage and support Connecticut's efforts to refine services for all children in its care.

TIMELINE OF CONNECTICUT'S REFORMS

1999: Grant is awarded from OJJDP and BJA

1999-2002: Research is conducted on court-involved girls

2001: Legislation is enacted requiring gender-responsive programming

1999-2006: Education and advocacy are conducted

2000-2002: Single-sex programs emerge

2001-2002: Girls Probation Model is implemented

2003: Center for Best Practices is established

2004: Legislation is enacted requiring the Department of Children and Families to develop a plan for diversion programs for status offenders

2003-2006: Gender-responsive detention centers are established

2005-2007: Multi-system collaboration begins

2005-2007: New gender responsive program models are implemented

2007: Legislation is enacted prohibiting detention of status offenders and requiring diversion programs for this population

2006-2008: Gender responsivity for both girls & boys emerges

2009-2011: Research and quality assurance

Florida

To the dismay of advocates, in the early 2000s, Florida's front-end day treatment and prevention programs were cut by the state legislature, with the funds diverted instead to building a maximum security prison for girls.¹¹¹ Advocates and concerned legislators challenged

the repeated allocation of funding in the state budget toward incarceration and away from prevention programs. But when state legislators asked the advocacy community for studies supporting their claims that Florida's money would be better spent on frontend prevention, there was no research available that clearly documented the strengths and weaknesses in the treatment of girls in Florida's juvenile justice system. 113

Galvanized by these events, Lawanda Ravoira, then President of the PACE Center for Girls, asked the Jessie Ball duPont Fund, a local philanthropy, to provide funding to the National Council on Crime and Delinquency to conduct groundbreaking research on girls in Florida, which it did. ¹¹⁴ Under the leadership of Leslie Acoca as the Principal Investigator on the project, NCCD's research was published in a report, *Educate or Incarcerate*, in 2000, which underscored the need for community-based services and advocates' concerns regarding the direction of juvenile justice policy in Florida. ¹¹⁵

Widening the base of stakeholder support for their approach was critical to convincing the state legislature to eventually reverse course. The PACE Center for Girls partnered with The Children's Campaign to hold community briefings throughout Florida on the need for community-based programs in the early 2000s. 116 A larger goal of the hearings was to reorient the overall state juvenile justice policy direction which had been toward building large correctional facilities rather than developing community-based programming. 117 These hearings were the critical first step in engaging a wide stakeholder base—including citizens, advocates and juvenile justice system officials—in girls' reform efforts.

Despite public outcry, the Florida Department of Juvenile Justice opened a maximum security facility for girls in 2000. Over the next five years, much of the advocacy community's efforts focused on exposing the abuses committed against the girls held there and shutting it down. In 2005, they succeeded.¹¹⁸ Since

that time, advocates have created and implemented gender-responsive approaches for girls in Florida's juvenile justice system, and have been able to steer public funding more successfully toward prevention, diversion and treatment programs and away from deepend incarceration for girls.¹¹⁹

These gains are the product of hard work by researchers, policymakers, funders, and advocates. For more than a decade, The Children's Campaign and the National Council on Crime and Delinquency (NCCD) have led this charge. The Children's Campaign is an advocacy and watchdog group that initiates systemic reform through public education and public policy. ¹²⁰ In more recent years, NCCD's work in this area has been led by The NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women. This policy, research and action organization, established in 2008, has significant expertise in long-range planning and strategic thinking on girls' reform efforts. ¹²¹

Talented and dedicated leaders within these organizations made all the difference –Roy Miller, President of The Children's Campaign, Linda Alexionok, Executive Director of The Children's Campaign, Lawanda Ravoira, now Director of NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women, Barry Krisberg, former President of NCCD, and Vanessa Patino Lydia, also of NCCD. A supportive network of funders, including the Jessie Ball duPont Fund, Florida Bar Foundation, Women's Giving Alliance, Allegheny Franciscan Foundation, and the Edythe Bush Foundation, made significant investments in laying the groundwork for and sustaining change. 122 Their funding supported a wide range of strategies including needs assessments, research, public opinion polling, public service announcements, targeted direct mail campaigns, public hearings, strategic planning reports, innovative pilot projects, and direct legislative and administrative advocacy for change.

While there is much to admire about the genderresponsive reforms implemented in Florida, it is

important to also recognize that Florida's overall juvenile justice system remains deeply troubled, transferring more children to adult court and incarcerating more children in adult prison than any other state. A Florida law passed last year over the strong objections of advocates, including the reformers discussed here, allows counties to opt to place children in jail. A Florida lawsuit against Polk County for its treatment of jailed children. The suit alleges that children held in the Polk County adult jail are subjected on a regular basis to "abuse, neglect and violence, including the placement of children in a cage for punishment."

All of the children in, or at risk of being involved in, Florida's juvenile justice system deserve far better. The case study of the previous decade of gender-responsive reform efforts, summarized below, provides reason to be optimistic that relentless advocacy can help turn the tide on this latest round of puntive and inhumane treatment.

A chronological history of significant events in Florida's reform effort is provided below.

Research was integral to understanding the needs of the girls in the system. In 2000, NCCD conducted 960 case file reviews and in-depth interviews with 86 girls in Florida's juvenile justice system. The report publishing the study findings, Educate or Incarcerate, documented Florida girls' pathways into the system: educational failure which often began very early; victimization; early sexual activity; and family incarceration. 127 The research also documented the increasing use of detention of girls for non-serious offenses, and the lack of appropriate prevention, education and other services for girls. 128 The report called on the state to stop construction on a maximum security facility for girls but construction proceeded. 129 The mistreatment of girls in that facility would later become a catalyst and focal point for reformers' efforts.

Public education helped build a broad base of support for improving the system for girls. Through hearings and other public events, reformers increased the public's and policymakers' knowledge of and concern about the issues facing girls in the juvenile justice system. PACE Center for Girls and The Children's Campaign conducted a series of briefings entitled "Justice for Girls" throughout the state of Florida. 130 The Children's Campaign also conducted public opinion polling that showed that the public strongly supported prevention and early intervention.¹³¹ The Children's Campaign strategy included convening a series of roundtable conversations, town hall meetings, truth tours, etc. and actively included community and citizen leaders.

Direct action drew needed attention to the issues. Reformers made efforts to elevate girls' voices in the call for change. In 2003, led by PACE Center for Girls, Inc., in partnership with The Children's Campaign and Child Welfore League of America, roughly 500 girls under

Welfare League of America, roughly 500 girls under the supervision of the state juvenile justice system protested at the state capitol against funding cuts to community-based programs for girls in the juvenile justice system.¹³²

Two key legislative successes propelled the reform movement forward:

Legislation was enacted that required gender-specific services for girls. In 2004, bipartisan legislation passed in the Florida legislature that mandated gender-specific services for girls in Florida's juvenile justice system. ¹³³ Florida was only the second state in the country to enact this type of requirement. ¹³⁴ Lawanda Ravoira and girls from the PACE Center for Girls engaged in extensive advocacy to secure passage of this bill,

including testifying before the relevant committees and meeting individually with state legislators. Bipartisanship was key to the bill's success: the House bill was sponsored by a Republican, and the Senate bill by a Democrat. The bill's most critical supporter was Senator Jim King, a Republican, then-Senate President. His leadership was instrumental in moving the legislation forward to passage during the last hours of the legislative session.¹³⁵

The legislature closed the maximum security facility for girls. The Florida Institute for Girls had gained a reputation as rife with abuse, neglect, sexual misbehavior, and mismanagement, which eventually led to a grand jury investigation. Reformers repeatedly called for its closure. Under the leadership of Gus Barriero, of the House Public Safety Committee, funding in the state budget for the Florida Girls Institute was eliminated and the facility was closed in 2005. 136

KEY ELEMENTS OF FLORIDA'S REFORMS

- Research on the needs and profiles of girls in Florida's juvenile justice system and gaps in services
- **Public education** campaigns, including public hearings to garner public support for prevention, early intervention and diversion programs
- Enactment of **legislation** requiring gender-responsive programming in 2004
- Detailed **strategic planning** reports that took stock of past successes, and charted a path forward
- Collaboration between the state juvenile justice agency and community-based organizations
- Implementation and testing of new programs
- **Training** for all relevant personnel in gender-responsive approaches
- Significant public investment of juvenile justice funding in diversion programs, and in particular in The PACE Center for Girls
- Private foundations' commitment to seeding, fostering and following through on the reform effort



The Department of Juvenile Justice convened a Girls Advisory Council to oversee the transition.

The Children's Campaign advocated for the Department of Juvenile Justice to appoint a Girls Advisory Council to create individualized assessments and proper placement plans for the 67 girls being moved from the Florida Institute. 137 Dr. Ravoira (then President & CEO of PACE Center for Girls) was appointed to co-chair the Girls Advisory Council with then-Assistant Secretary Charles Chervanik. 138 Members included Department of Juvenile Justice staff and community stakeholders. The formation of the council was an important step in solidifying a partnership between the state juvenile justice agency and the advocacy community. The next year, the Girls Advisory Council, in partnership with The Children's Campaign, Inc., hosted a Girls in Juvenile Justice Summit from January 19-20, 2006, to identify the needs of girls in the juvenile justice system and to provide recommendations for a blueprint for action. 139

The state Office of Program and Policy Analysis and Government Accountability analyzed the gender-responsiveness of existing juvenile justice programs.

That analysis was detailed in the report, Gender Specific Services for Delinquent Girls Vary Across Programs, But Help Reduce Recidivism, Report No. 05-13, March 2005; and Gender Specific Services for Delinquent Girls Vary Across Prevention, Detention, and Probation Programs, Report No. 05-56, December 2005.¹⁴⁰

In 2006, a study using NCCD's research-based Juvenile Assessment and Intervention System (JAIS) conducted by the NCCD of 319 girls in the juvenile justice system allowed NCCD to develop recommendations for an essential set of services to support the profile of girls in Florida's juvenile justice system. The JAIS is a validated risk, needs, and treatment strategies instrument which is used to assess girls' needs in the following categories—"mental health, family relationships, social skills, peer relationships, vocational skills, value orientation, substance use/abuse,

school/educational issues, and health"—and score their risk to public safety. This information is then used to craft an individualized treatment plan for the girl. Focus groups with 75 staff members who worked closely with the girls were also critical in identifying gaps in services, girls' needs and barriers to effective service delivery. Reformers were able to identify a complete set of services that helped to concretize what it would mean to be gender-responsive within juvenile justice facilities. NCCD then took this essential set of services to the DJJ an recommended its adoption.

Reformers wrote thoughtful white papers that chronicled successes to date and set out critical next steps. Florida's *Blueprint for Action* was one of those key documents. This document provided concrete steps forward. ¹⁴⁴ Co-authored in 2007 by Dr. Ravoira and Roy Miller, it was intended as "a comprehensive blueprint that will guide Florida's response to girls in or at risk of entering the justice system." ¹⁴⁵ The Blueprint took into

Florida advocates recommended an "essential set of services" to girls in the juvenile justice system

- specialized mental health and substance abuse treatment services that recognize and respond to girls' interconnected problems of addiction, trauma and victimization and offending behaviors;
- family-focused intervention and treatment that respond to each girl's experiences that contributed to her pathway into the system;
- medical and related services for pregnant and parenting teens;
- traditional education and career and technical education for girls in the juvenile justice system.



account input from a wide range of stakeholders over the course of two years, including national experts, the Girls Advisory Council, the NCCD, PACE Center for Girls, the Florida Juvenile Justice Association, the Florida Network of Youth and Family Services, girls in the juvenile justice system at all levels, participants in the Girls Summit, the courts, attorneys, probation officers, educators, service providers and many others.¹⁴⁶

The Department of Juvenile Justice piloted new approaches. Also in 2007, NCCD partnered with DJJ to pilot the Juvenile Assessment Intervention System (JAIS) in five girls' residential programs and the DJJ implemented an all-girls probation unit.¹⁴⁷

Advocates took their statewide advocacy agenda to the local level. The Children's Campaign's advocacy model, which had begun at the state level, was replicated locally in Jacksonville through *Justice for Girls: The Duval County Girls' Initiative*, an initiative that was led by The Children's Campaign and NCCD.

A local 13-member citizen-driven Leadership Council served as coordinating body of the *Justice for Girls:* Duval County Girls Initiative. Similar to the statewide

needs assessment conducted by NCCD years before, The Duval County Girls Initiative called for a local needs assessment to determine how best to meet the needs of girls in that system. 148 To identify girls' needs and the resources currently available in the community, researchers conducted focus groups with judges, the sheriff, the state attorney, public defenders, service providers, schools, parents and girls. 149 They also analyzed key data sets from relevant public agencies and local service providers.

Reformers implemented research-based gender-responsive programming. The Jessie Ball

DuPont Fund provided seed money to launch the NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women in 2007, fueling an even greater focus on this work. 150 In 2009 and 2010, The NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women implemented a new detention model for girls detained at the Southwest Florida Regional Juvenile Detention Center, called Justice for All Girls Services (JAGS). While girls in the JAGS program wait for judicial disposition of their cases or commitment and placement, they receive alternative services, including "assessment, referrals, one-to-one skills training, group skills training, help navigating the system, [and] information about available community programs."151 Another significant aspect of this program is that JAGS program officers make recommendations to judges about disposition of the girls' cases, and are often able to recommend alternatives to incarceration.

The PACE Center for Girls continued to provide a critical alternative to incarceration. Throughout the decade, the PACE Center for Girls, Inc. was a critical resource in helping keep girls out of the juvenile justice system. PACE, a school-based program for girls

involved with, or at risk of involvement with, the juvenile justice system, has served 21,000 girls since 1985. PACE continues to provide community-based, gender-responsive prevention, diversion and early intervention programs, with significant funding from the Florida Department of Juvenile Justice. 153

Trainings for personnel reinforced the consistency of gender-responsive programs. The NCCD Center for Girls & Young Women created a training curriculum, Girl Matters™, for the Florida Department of Juvenile Justice. It provides practical steps to create an effective gender-responsive environment for girls in the juvenile justice system, and has since been used in juvenile justice agencies nationwide.¹5⁴ Recently, the Duval County Justice for Girls Initiative has begun exploring implementation of a training certification program for all juvenile justice program staff who serve girls. This work is being led by Linda Alexionok, Executive Director of Children's Campaign, in partnership with the NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women.¹55

Pilot programs were carefully tailored to respond

to the needs of girls in the community, as identified through the local needs assessment. The Duval County needs assessment showed that many girls were being suspended and at-risk of being involved in the juvenile justice system as early as elementary school. In response, a four-year pilot early-intervention program called *Girl Matters: It's Elementary*, was put in place for girls at risk of suspension in Duval County. 156

Legislative reform continues. The Children's Campaign continues to promote, in partnership with NCCD Center for Girls & Young Women, an advocacy agenda at the state level that addresses critical issues facing justice-involved girls and young women. In 2009, advocates helped pass a law to reverse the tide of suspensions and expulsions in schools due to zero-tolerance policies, 157 and in 2010 helped defeat a detention bill that would have widened the net for drawing girls into detention. 158 In 2012, advocates helped pass anti-shackling legislation for incarcerated pregnant women 159 and legislation putting in place supports for sexually exloited children. 160



РНОТО: Вов Маdde

Timeline of Florida's Reform Efforts

2000: The NCCD publishes a policy brief: Educate or Incarcerate.

2004: The legislature passes H.B. 1989 requiring gender-specific programming.

2005: The Florida Institute for Girls—a maximum-security facility—is closed amidst grand jury allegations of abuse, neglect and sexual misconduct.

2006: The NCCD publishes policy brief: A Rallying Cry for Change.

2006: The Florida Department of Juvenile Justice, at the urging of The Children's Campaign, creates a Blueprint Commission for studying and making recommendations on juvenile justice reform, with particular emphasis on the needs of girls.

2006: The DJJ publishes *A Blueprint for Change* (called for by The Children's Campaign), with specific reform policy recommendations agreed to by a wide range of stakeholders during a two-year vetting and development process.

2007: Two Girls Summits are held in Jacksonville.

2007: The NCCD/Children's Campaign community conducts a needs assessment for girls in the system.

2007: The DII holds the first state conference on girls in the juvenile justice system.

2007: The Justice for Girls: Duval County Girls Initiative is born out of the Jacksonville needs assessment.

2008: The NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women opens in Jacksonville.

2008: A zero-tolerance workshop is held.

2009: The first-ever Florida legislative hearing on girls in the juvenile justice system is called for by NCCD and Children's Campaign.

2009-2010: JAGS Detention Model is implemented.

2010-2014: Girl Matters: It's Elementary is piloted in Jacksonville elementary schools.

2012-2014: Advocates continue to win important legislative reforms.

Stanislaus County, California

The current reform effort in Stanislaus County is only a few years old. We profile it here because it is a good example of the nuts and bolts involved in getting a new reform effort off the ground. Stanislaus County reformers modeled their efforts on successful reforms in other jurisdictions in California, as well as in Florida. Their work also provides an example of how girls' reform strategies implemented in one jurisdiction can be adapted and transferred successfully to another,

and the role that experienced reformers can play in providing valuable technical assistance.

Local reform efforts are particularly important in California because of the increasing decentralization of California's juvenile justice system. All 58 counties receive state funding to address the needs of justice-involved youth at the local level in juvenile halls and camps or community-based programs. ¹⁶¹ California's committed juveniles are held in local custody in greater numbers than in most other states. ¹⁶² This is due in part

to a long history of problems with facilities run by the State Division of Juvenile Justice. 163

Advocates have achieved positive changes in California's state-run juvenile justice system, and successfully reduced the number of youth in its care, using both litigation and legislative approaches. 164 In 2003, advocates filed what would become landmark litigation alleging unconstitutional and inhumane treatment of youth in the custody of the Division of Juvenile Justice (which was then the California Youth Authority). 165 This litigation successfully illuminated a wide range of abuses against youth in that system and the need for sweeping changes. Significant legislative reform occurred in 2007 when California enacted Senate Bill 81, which limited courts' discretion permitting courts to commit only the most serious or violent juvenile offenders to the custody of the State Division of Juvenile Justice. 166 This law also provided significant new funding to counties to invest in local juvenile justice programming and facilities.

This shift toward local control throughout California's juvenile justice system set the stage for the gender-responsive reform effort which began in Stanislaus County in 2009. Funded by a grant from the State Bar of California, the Prison Law Office in Berkeley, California began investigating opportunities to collaborate with a county to improve services for girls in that county's juvenile justice system. The Prison Law Office is an advocacy organization that has used litigation and other advocacy tools to enforce the rights of California prisoners and improve conditions of confinement. Lynn Wu, a staff attorney in that office, led the gender-responsive reform effort on behalf of The Prison Law Office.

The Prison Law Office sought collaboration with a county that had demonstrated a genuine interest in playing an active role in improving the system for justice-involved girls. Another important quality in a potential county partner was a willingness to be transparent about current policies and practices, and to share data.

When Wu approached the Stanislaus County
Probation Department to gauge its interest, she was
met with enthusiasm. The Probation Department
recognized that it could benefit from the resources and
best practices on gender-responsive reform efforts that
Wu and her colleagues would bring. Likewise, Wu
and other reformers understood that the Probation
Department is uniquely positioned to help identify
what types of reforms might work well in its particular
system. A productive collaboration ensued.¹⁶⁸

With that partnership in place, Wu then assembled an impressive range of stakeholder groups into a reform taskforce. Throughout the Stanislaus County community, there is a high level of engagement in moving the reform effort forward. The wide range of stakeholders invested in these reforms have been critical to its success. ¹⁶⁹ In fact, reform efforts were able to continue without skipping a beat even when Jerry Powers, the Chief Probation Officer at the helm of the original partnership, left the Probation Department. ¹⁷⁰ The following case study describes the steps advocates took to jumpstart the reform effort in Stanislaus County

KEY ELEMENTS OF STANISLAUS COUNTY'S REFORM EFFORT

- · Community needs assessment
- Encouraging community engagement through formation of a taskforce
- Strategic planning and goal-setting by stakeholders, including justice-involved girls and families
- Gender-responsive staff **training**
- Receiving technical assistance as needed from experts
- **Documenting** the process and outcomes



and their many achievements during the past two years.

A community needs assessment was the critical first step. In 2010, reformers conducted two online surveys of stakeholders in the fields of criminal justice, education, child development, and public and mental health in Stanislaus County. The goals of the surveys were to: gauge community stakeholders' understanding of girls' needs, facilitate a process of mapping currently available community resources and identify gaps in available resources, as well as engage local stakeholders in the strategic planning effort. The NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women played a significant role in helping Stanislaus County reformers conceptualize, design and implement the surveys.

In general, the surveys revealed that community stakeholders were enthusiastic about the idea of reforming the system for girls, and agreed that girls' needs were not being met. However, respondents expressed a good deal of confusion about what "gender-responsive" reform efforts were, and what it would mean to implement them in their work.¹⁷⁴

Building on the interest generated by the community surveys, in July 2010, advocates conducted focus groups and interviews with stakeholders, including justice-involved girls and their families. These focus groups and interviews allowed advocates to gauge the girls' current needs, as well as gaps and strengths in services.¹⁷⁵

Based on the surveys, focus groups, and interviews, reformers began drafting a strategic plan document, receiving support from experienced reformers at NCCD's Center for Girls and Young Women.¹⁷⁶

Reformers released the Strategic Plan and then proceeded to implement it. In December 2010, the Girls Juvenile Justice Initiative released the strategic plan with the following goals:

- To divert girls who do not pose a public safety risk from the juvenile justice system and refer them and their families to appropriate community based services;
- To align out-of-home placement decisions with the assessed needs of justice-involved girls;
- To identify or develop gender-responsive and culturally competent treatment options aligned with the assessed needs of justice-involved girls and include these services in their probation plans;
- To document the process and outcomes of the initiative to assist other counties in identifying the most effective ways to meet the needs of young women at-risk of being involved, currently involved, and previously involved in the juvenile justice system.¹⁷⁷

The strategic plan prioritized the following reform areas:

- assessment of policies and practices negatively impacting girls;
- improvement of gender-responsive and traumainformed services;
- provision of gender-responsive training for juvenile justice staff and other service providers;

- improvement of collaboration among stakeholders; and
- improvement of assessment and data collection systems to understand girls' profiles and trends.¹⁷⁸

Support for this project came from the State Bar of California's Equal Access Fund and the Sierra Health Foundation.¹⁷⁹

Reformers assembled a taskforce to implement the Strategic Plan. In February 2011, community stakeholders began meeting as a multidisciplinary taskforce to implement the strategic plan. 180 Taskforce members formed committees to work on specific projects that met more frequently than the quarterly taskforce meetings. Dividing the work into discrete action steps for which specific committees and their members were accountable accelerated the pace of change. In year two, the taskforce revisited the committee structure, eliminating and consolidating committees, and adjusting their focus as needed. 181 A list of the committees and their objectives provides an impressive taxonomy of a girls' reform effort:182

The following achievements are owed in large part to the committees' efforts:

Staff received training in providing gender-responsive services. Experienced trainers from NCCD's Center for Girls

Successful Diversion Committee

 MISSION: Increase successful diversion completion rates and refer girls to individualized services (e.g. trauma-informed care, substance abuse treatment).

Gender-Responsive Alternatives to Detention Committee

 MISSION: Provide enhanced services (e.g., dedicated probation officer, case manager, and clinician) for low-risk, high-needs girls to prevent them from being detained.

Girls' Unit Polices/Procedures

MISSION: Review policies and procedures for gender-responsivity.
 Encourage girls to give feedback and propose changes to current policies and procedures.

In-Custody and Transitional Programs Committee

MISSION: Develop gender-responsive programs to facilitate girls' development in custody and as they transition out of custody. Create list of available county services and develop a system to regularly update and distribute the list to youth in custody, under supervision, and in the community. (Eventually match existing resources to IAIS interventions.)

Successful Placement Committee

 MISSION: Develop a nurturing, therapeutic placement in Stanislaus County for girls who cannot stay or return home right away.

Gender-Responsive Training Committee

 MISSION: Work with non-profits to develop and conduct genderresponsive training for stakeholders and build internal county capacity to continue these trainings.

Educational Success Committee

MISSION: Identify push-out (prevention) and block-out (reentry)
issues that prevent girls from enrolling and succeeding in the least
restrictive educational placement. Conduct trainings with district
schools to improve these challenges.

Court Process/Legal Information Committee

• MISSION: Clarify the court process for girls and their families.

and Young Women and San Francisco's Youth Justice Institute have conducted trainings for over 80 service providers for girls in the county's juvenile justice system over the past two years. 183 The Probation Department has set a new goal for all service providers to deliver services that are gender-responsive, evidence-based, and family-engaging. Currently, the Probation Department is receiving training from the National Girls Institute for its staff. 184 The Probation Department is also currently seeking funding for "train the trainers" resources so that it will have the ability to deliver these trainings internally, conserving resources in the future. Interest in receiving training in gender-responsive programs and practices has skyrocketed since the reform effort began. Other neighboring counties are also participating in the trainings being conducted by The National Girls Institute. 185

Girls participated in the advocacy process. Girls have been actively involved in the advocacy process throughout this effort. Recently, with support and guidance from Unit Staff, girls in juvenile hall launched an organization they named Young Women United for a Better Cause. ¹⁸⁶ The organization meets weekly and has been successful in advocating for some policy changes. As important, the girls are learning leadership skills in the process. ¹⁸⁷

Information about community resources is much more widely available. The Probation Department has installed resource racks in all juvenile hall units so that youth can learn about available services before they leave custody. County partners have developed and disseminated fact sheets regarding suspension, expulsion, and special education rights.¹⁸⁸

New gender-responsive approaches have been put into place. These include: improved assessments, a probation officer with an all-girl caseload, a mentoring program and opening an in-county girls' group home.

• **Assessment.** Recognizing the need for better assessment of the particular needs of both boys

- and girls, the Probation Department recently implemented the JAIS assessment system, which was used in Florida.¹⁸⁹
- Girls Probation Officer. A dedicated girls
 Probation Officer and a Center for Human
 Services caseworker and clinician now work
 together to divert girls from detention for
 probation violations, bench warrants, or failures to
 appear and provide them with services to support
 them in successfully completing probation. 190
- Girls mentoring program. Reformers developed a mentoring program for girls in custody whose mentors continue to work with them when they leave custody. This mentoring program is modeled on a similar program run by the Youth Justice Institute at San Francisco's Youth Guidance Center, the local juvenile hall. 192
- Girls group home. After the lack of a girls group home was identified as a serious problem, a community service provider converted a group home serving boys to one that serves girls. Both clinical and house staff participated in gender-responsive training.¹⁹³

Documenting the process and outcomes has been a key goal of the initiative. Currently, the NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women is conducting a process- and outcome- evaluation of the reform efforts to date.¹⁹⁴

Although the Stanislaus County Girls Juvenile
Justice Initiative is still quite young, it provides a
strong example of how local reformers were able to
partner effectively with juvenile justice officials; draw
on technical assistance from other reform efforts;
develop a strong base of stakeholder support and
involvement in reforms; and document the process in
a clear manner that will be helpful to other states and
localities in the future.



THE ARCHITECTURE OF STATE & LOCAL REFORM

he robust decade-long reform efforts in Connecticut and Florida, and the much newer reform effort underway in Stanislaus County, California, have a number of common elements. Considered as a whole, they provide a set of building blocks for states and localities seeking to implement gender-responsive reforms. Our goal here is to capture those core elements so that policymakers, community-service providers, courts, law enforcement, educators, juvenile justice agencies, girls involved in the system and other stakeholders might use this document as a guide to improving their state or local juvenile justic system for girls.

In the sections that follow we elaborate on each of these elements.

Building Blocks of Reform

- Research to Diagnose the Problem (including listening to system-involved girls)
- Public Education Campaign
- Strategic Planning
- Engagement of Key Stakeholders, including Girls
- Legislation
- Staff Training
- Community-Based Diversion and Prevention Programs
- Pilot and Demonstration Projects
- Outcome Measures and Evaluation
- Technical Assistance
- Funding and Sustainability

Research to diagnose the problem

Research, using a variety of methods, played a critical role in each of the examples profiled here. Research on the needs of the girls in the particular system targeted for reform; research on the gender-responsiveness of existing juvenile justice programs; and research on community attitudes and the availability of appropriate community-based services is critical to laying the groundwork for system change.

Research can be accomplished on a number of different scales, depending on resources and capacity. For Connecticut, where overall resources were quite limited, a partnership with an academic institution, the University of Connecticut, made key research possible. In Florida, research was undertaken by The National Council on Crime and Delinquency and in California, a legal advocate conducted more informal research in the form of surveys and focus groups, with support from the NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women. ¹⁹⁵ Once this building block is in place, reformers can use findings from the research to create a blueprint for change.

1. RESEARCH ON THE NEEDS OF GIRLS

In all of the reform efforts, needs assessments were a centerpiece of the research agenda and critical in identifying the course that reform should take in the particular state or community. While much is known about the different pathways that girls take into the system and their challenges, research on girls in the target state or local jurisdiction and how those needs are or are not being met is critical. Needs assessments should focus both on assessing the girls themselves and assessing the gender-responsiveness of the systems with which and stakeholders with whom they interact.

For example, in Florida, NCCD used the Juvenile Assessment and Intervention System (JAIS), which consists of individual interviews, to create an overall profile of the needs of girls in the system, and to develop interventions for individual girls. This research included a large sample of girls—319—at all levels of the system: girls from low, medium, high and maximum risk residential Department of Juvenile Justice programs and girls from non-residential PACE diversion programs. ¹⁹⁶ The interviews allowed researchers to identify girls' pathways into the system and strategies for improving outcomes for each girl. The interviews also provided a vehicle to include and consider, in a meaningful way, the perspectives of girls who were incarcerated or at risk of being incarcerated. ¹⁹⁷

Gender-responsive needs assessments can also be key to understanding the prevalence of particular challenges among girls in the juvenile justice system, such as pregnancy, substance abuse and mental health problems, and help guide decisions about where to focus resources. In particular, girls could be routinely screened for histories of trauma and abuse, mental health and substance abuse needs. For example, Leslie Acoca, the Juvenile Law Center of Philadelphia and Philadelphia Children's Hospital have collaborated to produce a Girls' Health Screen for girls between the ages of 11 and 17 who are in detention. The screening allows for the immediate detection of health conditions for girls entering the system, and paves the way for proper treatment.¹⁹⁸

In addition to a general needs assessment, the implementation of valid risk-assessment tools can be critical to making appropriate recommendations for detention, placement and services. This is important to reducing the number of girls in secure facilities who do not need to be there. Reformers in each of the case studies profiled are working to make alternative community-based placements and programs available. For example, in Stanislaus County, a girls probation officer works with a caseworker and clinician to meet



the needs of girls who do not need to be in secure facilities, but have a high level of needs that must be addressed to prevent deeper involvement in the justice system. ¹⁹⁹ Before these reforms were put in place, because there were no in-county group homes for girls in Stanislaus County, any girl who needed to go into placement had to be sent out of the county. ²⁰⁰ In response, local service providers converted a boys' group home to one that serves girls, and adjusted staff training and programming to be gender-responsive. ²⁰¹

2. RESEARCH ON THE GENDER-RESPONSIVENESS OF THE TARGET IURISDICTION

In addition to assessing the girls themselves, it is important to evaluate the availability and gender-responsiveness of current programs. In Florida, the Florida Department of Juvenile Justice conducted such an analysis.²⁰² In Connecticut, audits of

detention centers found that staff did not know how to implement gender-responsive approaches or what constituted best practice; did not have trauma-informed programs in place; and lacked gender-responsive behavior management approaches.²⁰³ In Stanislaus County, a survey of community-based organizations, along with informal meetings with stakeholders, revealed the need for more alternatives to detention for low-risk girls.²⁰⁴ These findings provided a clear roadmap for reformers.

3. RESEARCH ON THE AVAILABILITY OF COMMUNITY-BASED RESOURCES

Surveys of community stakeholders can help determine the availability of gender-responsive services in the community, as well as stakeholders' level of knowledge and interest in gender-responsive programs. Mapping out currently available resources will reveal service and location gaps, which is key to identifying the goals of a reform effort.

A Public Education Campaign

A public education campaign is critical to developing public support for reform. Key elements in a public education campaign include: the identification of interested stakeholders; community briefings and public hearings; and elevating girls' voices and stories in the public dialogue.

1. IDENTIFY AND ORGANIZE STAKEHOLDERS

One of the central goals of a public education campaign is to engage stakeholders and deepen their commitment to advancing change. Reformers in each of the case studies put significant effort into engaging a wide range of stakeholders. In Stanislaus County, community surveys were the first step. Advocates later followed up with survey respondents, inviting them to community meetings, and engaging many in a planning taskforce. That taskforce led to the creation of a number of action-oriented committees that have been

able to accomplish significant changes.²⁰⁵

Likewise, in Florida, both in the state reform effort and in the reform effort in Duval County, stakeholders formed taskforces that helped set the strategic direction for reforms at the state and local level. In many cases, these taskforces promoted collaboration between the players within the system and outside reformers. In Florida, reformers successfully urged the Department of Juvenile Justice to create a Girls Advisory Council. The Council was co-led by a high-ranking official within the Department of Juvenile Justice and Dr. Ravoira. ²⁰⁶ In Connecticut, the Connecticut Women's Consortium formed a working group to promote a critical collaboration among the various public agencies that serve girls involved in the juvenile justice system.

Engaging stakeholders through a public education campaign and formalizing their commitment through participation in a taskforce or working group is a critical step in a reform effort. Maintaining their commitment over time requires strong organization and planning.

2. HOLD COMMUNITY BRIEFINGS AND PUBLIC HEARINGS

Community briefings and public hearings help raise the profile of reform and garner support from a wide range of important stakeholders. Advocates in Florida used these tools with great success. For example, The Children's Campaign facilitated a 2007 Justice for Girls Summit at which roughly 125 stakeholders representing the widest possible range of stakeholders reviewed and approved draft policy recommendations for gender-responsive juvenile justice reform.²⁰⁷

3. ELEVATE GIRLS' VOICES IN THE PUBLIC DIALOGUE

Hearing directly from girls about their needs and current gaps in services is critical to ensuring that a reform effort focuses its efforts on the correct targets. Each of the reform efforts prioritized learning firsthand

 $oldsymbol{28}$

from girls about their needs and engaging girls in public advocacy efforts on their own behalf. Focus groups with affected girls were a key element of the reform efforts. In Stanislaus County, girls in juvenile justice facilities were encouraged to form their own advocacy organization. In Florida, girls spoke at community briefings, legislative hearings and other public events. Analyzing and reporting on the results of girls' needs assessments in the aggregate, to form an overall profile of their treatment in the system, as NCCD did, is another way of including girls' perspectives.

Strategic planning

In each of the reform efforts, strategic planning documents provided blueprints for reformers and the public. These documents took stock of past successes and failures, explained their likely impact, and set out goals for the future. Without these roadmaps in hand, it would have been much more difficult for reformers to stay on course. At various points along the way, reformers in Stanislaus County, California and Florida held public meetings and secured support from a wide variety of stakeholders for the strategic planning documents. This buy-in was instrumental to continued public participation in and support for gender-responsive reforms.

Key steps in strategic planning for a reform effort include: identifying and fostering support from funders; conducting needs assessments that are critical to developing a responsive reform agenda; bringing stakeholders together to brainstorm and commit to a reform plan; identifying key objectives (such as achieving closure of a particular facility or keeping girls in school and out of the juvenile justice system altogether); documenting the reform plan; and holding stakeholders accountable for short- and long-term progress.

Connecticut's initial strategic planning efforts were launched in response to federal grant requirements.

Indeed, the grant application process in and of itself helped create the initial impetus for agency leadership that supported planning and implementation of Connecticut's reforms. ²⁰⁸ In Florida, reports authored by the NCCD Center for Girls & Young Women and The Children's Campaign provided a comprehensive reform platform and documented recent successes. ²⁰⁹ Stakeholders contributed to the development of and later signed off on these recommendations.

In Stanislaus County, a strategic planning effort is currently underway, as outlined in the *Stanislaus County Girls Juvenile Justice Initiative: Improving Services for Justice-Involved Girls Strategic Plan*, December 2010. The strategic plan calls for reformers to focus on assessing current policies and practices toward girls in the system; improving gender-responsive programming; training program staff in gender-responsive approaches; strengthening collaboration among stakeholders; collecting data and assessing outcomes; and documenting progress.²¹⁰ In all of these reforms, documenting the trajectory of reform and the specific steps taken was key to the ability to move forward and chart future directions.

Recruitment of Key Stakeholders

When designing a reform effort, it is critical to be strategic about whom to bring to the table, and when to involve the various players.

In Florida, the stakeholders included NCCD's Center for Girls & Young Women, a think tank, research and advocacy organization; the Children's Campaign, a children's advocacy organization and specialist in messaging strategies; the Department of Juvenile Justice; and key funders such as the Jessie Ball duPont Fund, Florida Bar Foundation and others that were willing to support direct advocacy efforts.²¹¹

In Connecticut, key stakeholders included the Connecticut Judicial Branch Court Support Services Division; the Women's Consortium; the Department of Children and Families; The Center for Children's Advocacy; the Office of the Child Advocate; and the University of Connecticut.²¹²

In Stanislaus County, key stakeholders include the Prison Law Office, a non-profit legal organization; the Stanislaus County Probation Department; the Youth Justice Institute, a local juvenile justice reform organization with experience implementing gender-responsive reforms in San Francisco and Alameda County; and the NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women.²¹³ The wider group of stakeholders involved in the strategic planning process in Stanislaus County includes more than 25 stakeholders from community-based organizations; and government education, workforce development, health, and juvenile justice agencies, among others.²¹⁴

Taskforces played an important role in the reform efforts to push particular changes forward.

It is significant that in addition to community advocates, officials from the juvenile justice agency were often members of the task force. Working closely with a juvenile justice system while advancing a reform agenda can be difficult. But in each case, reformers found officials within the agency who were concerned about these issues and developed critical alliances with them.

In Florida, this collaboration was institutionalized in the form of the Girls Advisory Council that oversaw closure of the state girls' facility. The Girls Advisory Council later held the Girls Summit on juvenile justice reform. Advocacy materials praised the Department of Juvenile Justice's willingness to undertake reform efforts and cooperate

In recent annual reports, the Department of Juvenile Justice has tracked the provision of gender-responsive programs at all of its detention centers as one of its key outcome measures.

Organizations involved in Stanislaus County's Strategic Planning

California Rural Legal Assistance

Center for Human Services

Court Appointed Special Advocates

CSU Stanislaus

Community Services Agency

El Concilio

Excell Center

Health Services Agency

Keyes Union Elementary School District

Modesto City Schools

Modesto Police Department

Parent Resource Center

Sierra Vista Child & Family Services

Stanislaus County Behavioral Health and Recovery Services

Stanislaus County Center for Human Services

Stanislaus County Board of Supervisors

Stanislaus County Children and Families Commission

Stanislaus County Juvenile Court

Stanislaus County Office of Education

Stanislaus County Office of the District Attorney

Stanislaus County Probation Department

Stanislaus County Public Defender's Office

Turlock Unified School District

United Way

Securing buy-in from the broader juvenile justice community is another important step in girls' reform efforts. In Florida, juvenile justice reformers with a major focus on gender-responsive reforms—including the Children's Campaign and the Florida Juvenile Justice Association—convinced the governor to create a Blueprint Commission to evaluate and recommend reforms to the juvenile justice system overall (for boys and girls). In 2008, the Commission released a report that incorporated many of the key recommendations from the Justice for Girls: Blueprint for Action²¹⁵ into a broader set of reform recommendations.²¹⁶ Roy Miller of the Children's Campaign and Lawanda Ravoira of the NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women acted as key advisors to that Commission, ensuring strong ties between the girls' reform movement and the broader

juvenile justice community.²¹⁷ In Stanislaus County, the taskforce's multidisciplinary nature has led to a deeper and more comprehensive reform effort by improving services and interactions between justice-involved girls and local agencies and organizations.²¹⁸

Legislation

A number of states have specific legislative requirements that strengthen gender-responsive juvenile justice reform efforts. These include requirements to:

• Establish a commission to study the problem and make recommendations (e.g., Alabama and New Mexico);²¹⁹



- Assess and report on the extent to which existing programs meet both girls' and boys' needs and/ or provide equitable programming for boys and girls (e.g., Florida, Maryland, New Mexico, and Texas);²²⁰
- Implement gender-specific programming (e.g., Connecticut, Florida, Hawaii, and Minnesota).²²¹

Legislative advocacy played an important role in both Florida's and Connecticut's reform efforts. In Connecticut, legislation enacted in 2001 required the implementation of gender-specific programming; legislation enacted in 2004 engaged the Department of Children and Families to plan and implement gender-responsive services; and legislation enacted in 2007, while not specifically referencing girls, decriminalized status offenses and authorized funding for diversion programs for status offenders, with very significant results for girls.²²²

In Florida, legislation enacted in 2004 required that the Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government Accountability conduct an analysis of programs for girls within the Department of Juvenile Justice and analyze whether existing juvenile justice programs met their needs.²²³ The Florida legislation further required that entities receiving state juvenile delinquency prevention funds design their programs to be gender-responsive.

Whether these laws simply establish a commission to study the problem, require the state agency to undertake its own assessment and report back to the legislature on the extent to which programs are gender-responsive, decriminalize status offenses and create diversion programs for status offenders, or mandate the implementation of gender-responsive programming, they can play a key role in advancing the cause of reform. While a legislative strategy must be tailored to fit within a particular state and local jurisdiction's political climate, a legislative agenda is a key ingredient in any gender-responsive juvenile justice reform effort.

Leadership

A somewhat more ephemeral but critical element in all of these reform efforts is the role of key leaders for whom making the system better for girls is their life's work. They must have the ability to lead and inspire others to join them. Finally, they must be able to garner commitment to the reform effort from a broad range of individuals, so that securing reform does not rest on the shoulders of any one person.

In each of these reform efforts, inspiring individuals led the way. In Connecticut, from within the juvenile justice system, Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi led a decadelong crusade for reform. In Florida, advocates working outside the system managed to transform it in critical ways. Roy Miller, President of Children's Campaign, Lawanda Ravoira (formerly President of PACE and now Director of NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women), Barry Krisberg (former President of NCCD), and Vanessa Patino Lydia of NCCD, all led different aspects of a popular movement for reform.²²⁴ In Stanislaus County, Lynn Wu, a legal advocate, and Jill Silva, of the Stanislaus County Probation Department, are leading the charge in a reform effort that is bringing together nearly all of the key players both within and outside the system.²²⁵

Staff Training

There is a significant amount of mystery around what gender-responsive programming is and how to put it into practice. Beyond getting staff to accept the need for gender-responsive programming, it is critical to provide staff with the tools to implement these changes. Bringing in experts to provide technical assistance by advising on reform efforts or training key personnel can accelerate and secure the pace of change. Key steps in a staff training protocol include: surveying training participants to determine where training is most needed; bringing in outside trainers if the jurisdiction does not yet have the required internal

expertise; developing internal training capacity; and conducting training on a regular basis so that new staff receive training and incumbents' knowledge is reinforced.

For example, in Connecticut, audits revealed a dearth of knowledge about what constituted best practice in gender-responsive programming or even how to define gender-responsive approaches. In particular, staff in the detention system needed to learn genderresponsive behavior management strategies. Technical assistance funding from OJJDP allowed Connecticut to bring in outside trainers initially, and then to develop the internal capacity to train its own staff in genderresponsive practices.²²⁶ With this funding, Connecticut reformers brought in several experts in the field, including Dr. Stephanie Covington, a widely known expert in gender-responsive programming and author of many gender-responsive curricula, to train system officials and service providers; Giovanna Taormina, Executive Director of Girls Circle Association, to train probation officers and service providers on the Girls Circle Model; Rebecca Maniglia, a consultant, to train staff to train others to work effectively with girls; and Dr. Marty Beyer to develop recommendations for system, focusing on girls at the highest levels of system involvement.²²⁷ Connecticut later developed its own internal capacity to provide training. Once gender-responsive interventions and approaches were implemented, training and quality assurance was provided on an ongoing basis.²²⁸

In Florida, the NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women has provided extensive staff training to juvenile justice agencies, and provides a "training for trainers" that is used widely throughout the Florida Department of Juvenile Justice. "Girl Matters"," a 5-day training-of-trainer's curriculum, is a comprehensive step-by-step guide to creating effective gender- responsive services to improve outcomes for girls and young women in the juvenile justice system."²²⁹ The goal of the training is to provide

participants with the concrete information they need to train others at their respective juvenile justice agencies.

In Stanislaus County, California, the Youth Justice Institute and the NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women have provided gender-responsive training for Probation Department staff and community service providers, including training on implementation of the JAIS assessment instrument.²³⁰ While a significant amount of time has been spent conveying the nuts and bolts of gender-responsiveness, reformers have also used the training to explain the rationale behind this approach. By imparting information about why these reforms are likely to make a difference for girls, reformers hope to increase support for gender-responsive approaches among the staff that will be charged with implementing them.²³¹

Community-Based Diversion and Prevention Programs

The unavailability of community-based diversion programs in many jurisdictions has meant that often, even when court personnel recognize that diversion programs may be most appropriate for juvenile offenders, they are not an option. Adequately funding diversion and prevention programs is critical to reforming the juvenile justice system for girls. Key steps toward garnering support for these programs include: an assessment of the needs of girls in the jurisdiction; legislation supporting or requiring the provision of and planning for diversion programs; and marshaling public and private resources in support of innovative efforts.

Connecticut recognized early on that many of the girls in its system were status offenders who were low-risk and high-need. These girls were often being incarcerated simply because Connecticut lacked adequate community-based diversion programs. Several pieces of legislation supported the development of diversion programs, including a prohibition on the



incarceration of status offenders²³² and a requirement that the Department of Children and Families develop a plan and description of community-based resources available for status-offending youth.²³³ Connecticut opened two voluntary respite care facilities for girls who are status offenders, also known in that state as girls from "Families With Service Needs."²³⁴ These facilities are for non-delinquent, high-risk girls who are referred by the Probation Department for a stay averaging between three and fourteen days, during which the girls are connected with appropriate interventions. Girls make formal agreements to receive ongoing treatment with local service providers in their communities.²³⁵ The goal of these programs is to keep

girls who are at risk of becoming delinquent out of the delinquency system.

The PACE Center for Girls in Florida is another example of a successful diversion program. It receives significant funding from the Department of Juvenile Justice to serve girls who are involved in the juvenile justice system and girls at-risk of involvement.

Reformers must continually assess whether existing diversion programs are meeting their goals. In Stanislaus County, stakeholders recognized that many girls were not successfully completing diversion and sought to address that by providing gender-responsive training to service providers.²³⁶

States can take a huge step forward in reducing the number of girls in the deep end of the system by adequately funding, evaluating and improving gender-responsive diversion and prevention programs.

Pilot and Demonstration Projects

Once reformers have identified the reforms needed in a particular jurisdiction, they can begin to innovate. For example, after identifying the need for gender-responsive probation programs, Connecticut created girls-only caseloads for a small number of probation officers at 13 sites and provided training to these officers in how to work with girls. Dedicated caseloads and a full-time coordinator are available to provide day-to-day assistance to probation officers.²³⁷

After realizing that school push-out begins as early as elementary school for many girls, NCCD's Center for Girls & Young Women piloted a four-year project to divert elementary school girls who are at risk of entering the juvenile justice system. ²³⁸ Girl Matters TM: It's Elementary provides a "gender-responsive training curriculum to teach school personnel, project staff, and community partners effective strategies for addressing the factors that cause girls' acting out behaviors." ²³⁹ It also provides direct services to help address the

problems these girls are facing, including family counseling, therapy and other services.²⁴⁰

Reformers can use research on the needs of girls in the juvenile justice system and those at risk of being in the juvenile justice system to inform the development of pilot projects.

Outcome Measures and Evaluation

All programs should track outcomes and measure effectiveness based on concrete indicators of change. For example, in Connecticut, the following outcome measures were used to evaluate the near-term effectiveness of gender-responsive programs: "frequency of targeted operational occurrences (e.g., use of restraints, accidental or intentional injury of staff or detainees/clients, suicidal behavior); staff attitudes and mastery of training topics; and client perception



рното: Bob Madden

of facility programming."²⁴¹ Increased resiliency skills, protective factors, reductions in recidivism, decreases in severity of offenses, cost-effectiveness, and feasibility of replication are other important factors Connecticut is using to measure effectiveness.²⁴²

There is a growing consensus that while there is a significant literature base on girls' pathways into criminality, far less work has been done to evaluate what works in gender-responsive programming. Indeed, a recent report by OJJDP documents an apparent "disconnect" between the literature identifying the causes of female delinquency and the literature that focuses on the principles of effective intervention. Reformers and researchers need to close this gap. Stanislaus County, for example, will "document the process and outcomes of the initiative to assist other counties to identify the most effective ways to meet the needs of their young women at-risk of being involved,

currently involved, and previously involved in the juvenile justice system."²⁴⁴ It is helpful for reformers to build documentation efforts into reform efforts early, which facilitates transferring these efforts to other jurisdictions and bringing them to scale.

As recommended by the Girls Study Group, any funding for gender-responsive programming should include, if at all possible, a set-aside of funds to conduct an evaluation, and strongly encourage partnerships with universities or other researchers qualified to perform rigorous evaluations.²⁴⁵ When possible, gender-responsive programs should identify a control group or outside comparison group, and have multiple outcome measures that are tracked for both groups.²⁴⁶

Technical Assistance

Technical assistance in planning and implementing reforms can help reform efforts progress quickly and on much surer footing. In Stanislaus County reformers received significant technical assistance from the NCCD Center for Girls and Young Women and the San Francisco Youth Justice Institute in developing and implementing their strategic plan.²⁴⁷

Connecticut sought extensive technical assistance from leading experts to build the capacity of the detention system to: "1) assess gender specificity in the detention system; 2) train staff to implement a gender specific behavior management system using key concepts of gender specific programming; and 3) provide technical assistance to ensure consistent application of a gender specific philosophy."²⁴⁸ To maximize the effectiveness of this process, Connecticut consulted with several experts in the field "to help design and facilitate comprehensive assessment, training, and technical assistance" at the detention centers.²⁴⁹

Seeking out technical assistance from experienced reformers is a key step in any new gender-responsive reform effort.

Funding and Sustainability

Funding for these reform efforts came from diverse sources. In Connecticut, funding from the OJJDP seeded the project for several years, and funding was later continued by the Connecticut legislature. In Florida, funding came from the Jessie Ball duPont fund and other private foundations, and later from the Department of Juvenile Justice Programs. Support for NCCD's Center for Girls and Young Women also provided significant resources to the project. In Stanislaus County, a very small amount of money was used to start the project, and after the initial two-year launch, advocates received state grants to implement various projects. Although funding for these efforts



was often quite limited, advocates in all of these states were successful at sustaining their efforts over time. In the case of Connecticut and Florida, reforms have been going strong for more than a decade.

However, at the program level, the lack of sustainability of many gender-responsive programs was identified in an analysis conducted by the Girls Study Group as a significant problem. The analysis found that seven out of the eighteen girls-only programs evaluated were no longer in operation and that all four of the "promising" programs were no longer operating.²⁵¹ Developing a long-term plan to achieve sustainability and steady funding is critical to the success of girls' reform efforts.



FEDERAL POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS TO SUPPORT STATE AND LOCAL REFORM EFFORTS

ederal policy has been instrumental in seeding state and local gender-responsive reform efforts. In Connecticut, federal funding was largely responsible for the initiation of a decade of reforms. Florida, the National Council on Crime and Delinquency, which receives funding from OJJDP, was instrumental in carrying out the reforms. More recently, OJJDP has funded the National Girls Institute to support state and local gender-responsive reform efforts by providing leadership, training and technical assistance to reformers. A strong federal focus on supporting gender-responsive reforms at the state and local level is critical. Below we recommend a number of steps the federal government ought to take to support state and local reform efforts.

Conduct and Fund Research and Evaluation

OJJDP should work to fulfill the need for evaluation and research on gender-specific programs for girls, including updating the 1998 Inventory of State Best Practices (*Guiding Principles for Promising Female Programming*). Two areas of particular importance for research include: best practices in gender-responsive programming and conditions of confinement for girls in the juvenile justice system.

To help identify best practices in gender-responsive programming, OJJDP should provide funding for a 3-to 5-year demonstration projects in multiple states to test various approaches. Services should be provided in a manner that is trauma-informed, strength-based, gender-specific and comprehensive.

OJJDP should also take the lead on conducting a national study of conditions of confinement for girls. Incarcerated girls are placed in solitary confinement,

shackled and restrained, and strip-searched unnecessarily. Many of these practices re-traumatize girls or deepen previously experienced trauma, such as physical or sexual abuse and neglect. A national study on conditions of confinement for girls and young women could be instrumental in garnering support for trauma-informed and rehabilitative approaches toward girls in the juvenile justice system.

While more research is needed, OJJDP should not require all program evaluations to be based on an experimental design methodology of randomized controlled trials. Through the Child and Family Services Improvement and Innovation Act, Congress directed HHS to take into account the quality of the methodology of proposed evaluations by prospective grantees, but also stated that grants should not be denied on the basis that a grantee's evaluation methodology does not include a randomized control model.²⁵⁴ OJJDP should make the same explicit commitment. Because intervention quality can be so determinative in the lives of girls, many delinquency programs that serve girls do not wish to participate in randomized control evaluations that randomly assign some girls to lesser-quality programs. The continued emphasis on rigorous experimental models at the federal level, combined with the reluctance of quality programs to participate in these studies, perpetuates a lack of information about what works.

Develop and Promote High-Quality Assessment and Data Collection Tools for Girls

Girls often enter the juvenile justice system having been sexually or physically abused. Many have also been subject to commercial sexual exploitation and

domestic sex trafficking.²⁵⁵ Many of the assessment instruments currently available do not adequately screen girls for these and other problems that are common among girls. When girls are not properly assessed, the juvenile justice system misses an opportunity to provide girls with the treatment they may need. Further, a stronger and standardized assessment tool for girls would result in a much better national portrait of girls in the juvenile justice system. OJJDP could take the leading role in the creation and promulgation of an evidence-based standardized gender-responsive assessment instrument, in collaboration with leading experts like the National Girls Institute.

Encourage State Advisory Groups to Focus on Gender-Specific Programming

State Advisory Groups (SAGs) are required by the Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention Act to conduct an assessment and include in their annual state plans which they submit to OJJDP a "plan for providing needed gender-specific services for the prevention and treatment of juvenile delinquency."²⁵⁶ But many states do not comply with this requirement and few states provide services that are proportional to the percentage of male and female juveniles held in detention. OJDDP should redouble its efforts to ensure that State Advisory Groups fulfill this plan requirement and encourage states to provide sufficient gender-responsive services to meet the needs of their female juvenile justice populations.

To promote this, OJJDP could require at least one member of each SAG to have expertise in the challenges facing girls in, or at risk of being involved in, the juvenile justice system, including sexual abuse and trauma and commercial sexual exploitation and domestic minor sex trafficking, as well as effective interventions. OJJDP could also sponsor a yearly convening of SAGs and girl-focused program leaders

at a national conference to highlight the specific needs of girls in the juvenile justice system and promising approaches.

Train Judges, Law Enforcement, and Juvenile Justice Staff

We urge a DOJ-wide effort to improve training and technical assistance for better recognition of the unique needs of marginalized girls. Many juvenile justice program staff are ill-equipped to fully address the dynamic needs of girls in the juvenile justice system. OJJDP should improve training for staff and state leaders to better serve female populations.

OJJDP is uniquely positioned to act as a nationwide resource in the collection and provision of gender-responsive training and protocols. OJJDP should embrace this role and explore opportunities to disseminate this information to the states, through conferences, webinars, a website, and other materials. Further, OJJDP could provide grants to states specifically to support staff training.

Encourage Use of Federal Funds to Promote Gender-Responsive Reform Efforts

Instead of funding the programming both girls and boys need, Congress has decreased JJDPA funding from more than \$500 million to \$100 million in the past decade, with the current House bill proposing another round of drastic cuts.²⁵⁷ Further diminishing funding for juvenile justice programs would terribly damage efforts to make systemic improvements for girls and boys alike. Congress should increase, not decrease, federal funding for the JJOPA Title II formula grants.

Indeed, federal funding should play a positive role in the establishment of gender-responsive policies and practices at the state level. In general, girls' programs receive a disproportionately small share of federal funding. OJJDP



should strive to achieve parity in funding programs for girls. To accelerate states' participation in genderresponsive reforms, OJJDP should encourage states to apply for federal funding for that purpose. Although gender-responsive programming is an eligible category under JJDPA-authorized Title II Formula grants, state commitment to apply formula grant funds to address the needs of girls has waned. As noted in a 2009 GAO report, in fiscal years 2007 and 2008, OJJDP reported that states used approximately \$1.9 million in formula grant money for girls' delinquency programs, representing approximately 1 percent of such funding for those years with an additional \$1.8 million in discretionary grants in 2007. 258 OJJDP should aid states in recognizing the need for gender-specific programming and encourage use of Title II block grant funds for such programs.

The federal government should also re-establish a

dedicated funding stream for gender-responsive reform. The 1992 reauthorization of the JJDPA established the Challenge Grant program, and more specifically the Challenge E Grant program, under which many states applied and received funding to address gender bias and to establish policies and programs to address the specific needs of girls.²⁵⁹ But the program has not been re-funded since 2003.

Convene Interagency Working Goups at Federal and State Levels to Address the Needs of Marginalized Girls and Young Women

For marginalized girls and young women, the juvenile justice system is only one of the many public systems in which they are involved. Without better cooperation and braided efforts from the child welfare, foster care, education, labor, and health care systems, we will not identify and address the upstream causes and contributing factors for girls' delinquency. Both federal and state collaborative working groups are needed.

Eliminate Valid Court Order Exception for Status Offenders

While the current JJDPA prohibits detaining youth for status offenses, youth are still often detained for technical violations of valid court orders. ²⁶⁰ This practice has a significant impact on girls, who make up a disproportionate number of status offenders. ²⁶¹ The JJDPA should clearly prohibit states from detaining juveniles for violating valid court orders by removing the Valid Court Order exception from the JJDPA. The JJDPA is five years overdue for reauthorization, and it is past time to fix this loophole. ²⁶²

Ban Shackling for Pregnant Girls

Pregnant girls in the juvenile justice system are often subjected to the same forced restraint policies as all



juvenile offenders.²⁶³ Use of restraints during pregnancy, labor, and delivery is a health risk. Congress should ban this practice. Absent a total ban, the reauthorization of the JJDPA should require states to document and report to DOJ the use of restraints on pregnant juveniles, and DOJ should compile the results in a report to Congress.

Monitor Compliance with the Prison Rape Elimination Act and its Implementing Regulations

Sexual abuse and misconduct against incarcerated girls and boys is a significant problem. DOJ has recently

issued regulations implementing the Prison Rape Elimination Act.²⁶⁴ States have one year to come into compliance these regulations.²⁶⁵ The Act requires major reforms, including regulations on the placement of youth in adult jails and prisons; prohibiting contact between youth and adults in common areas; and limiting use of isolation.²⁶⁶ If properly implemented, the Act should have a significant impact on stemming the tide of sexual abuse and misconduct toward incarcerated girls and improving their treatment. OJJDP should closely monitor states' compliance with these regulations, and promote policies to keep girls out of the adult criminal justice system.

Encourage the Development of National Standards for Gender-Responsive Programming

With an increase in the number of juvenile serving programs, detention centers and probation departments seeking accreditation from groups, such as the National Commission on Correctional Health Care, the Council on Accreditation, and the American Correctional Association, standards for juvenile programming, detention, and probation should include those directly related to gender-responsive practice.

There are many more federal legislative proposals that would improve outcomes for both girls and boys in the juvenile justice system. We encourage those interested in advancing federal reforms to review the recommendations of the leading juvenile justice reform coalition, the National Juvenile Justice & Delinquency Prevention Coalition.²⁶⁷

CONCLUSION

he experiences of reformers in Connecticut, Florida and Stanislaus County suggest that there are concrete steps reformers can take to make a significant difference in the lives of girls currently in, or at risk of entering, the juvenile justice system. This paper has identified those key steps on the path to reform: research to diagnose the problem, a public education campaign, strategic planning, recruitment of key stakeholders, legislation, staff training and technical assistance, communitybased diversion and prevention programs, pilot and demonstration projects, and program evaluation. We encourage stakeholders committed to improving the juvenile justice system for girls to investigate and implement the strategies discussed here, as appropriate, in their own jurisdictions. We hope that this paper will also contribute to and help renew the dialogue on state-level innovations designed to both keep girls from entering the juvenile justice system and better serve the girls in its care.

ENDNOTES

- 1 Am. Bar Ass'n & Nat'l Bar Ass'n, Justice by Gender: The Lack of Appropriate Prevention, Diversion, and Treatment Alternatives for Girls in the Justice System 1 (2001), available at http://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/publishing/criminal_justice_section_newsletter/crimjust_juvjus_justicebygenderweb.authcheckdam.pdf.
- 2 Id. at 22.
- 3 FBI, UNIFORM CRIME REPORT: CRIME IN THE UNITED STATES, 2010 TBL.35 (2011), *available at* http://www.fbi.gov/about-us/cjis/ucr/crime-in-the-u.s/2010/crime-in-the-u.s.-2010/tables/10tbl35.xls.
- 4 Howard N. Snyder & Melissa Sickmund, Juvenile Offenders and Victims: 2006 National Report 196, 207 (2006).
- 5 NAT'L COUNCIL ON CRIME & DELINQUENCY, GETTING THE FACTS STRAIGHT ABOUT GIRLS IN THE JUVENILE JUSTICE SYSTEM 2 (2009), available at http://www.nccdglobal.org/sites/default/files/publication_pdf/fact-sheet-girls-in-juvenile-justice.pdf.
- 6 FBI, Uniform Crime Report: Crime in the United States, *supra* note 3, at tbl. 33
- 7 Meda Chesney-Lind et al., *Girls' Troubles*, *Girls' Delinquency*, *and Gender Responsive Programming:* A *Review*, 41 Austl. & N.Z. J. Criminology 162, 163 (2008), *available at* http://www.nationalcrittenton.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2011/08/Girls-Troubles-Girls-Delinquency-Gender-Responsive-Programming.pdf.
- 8 Id.
- 9 Id. at 162.
- 10 Shelley Zavlek & Rebecca Maniglia, *Developing* Correctional Facilities for Female Juvenile Offenders: Design and Programmatic Considerations, Corrections Today, Aug. 2007, at 59, available at http://www.justicesolutionsgroup.com/projectsheets/ACAfemalejuv.pdf.
- 11 Melissa Sickmund et al., Easy Access to the Census of Juveniles in Residential Placement: 1997-2010, NAT'L CENTER FOR JUVENILE JUSTICE (Dec. 16, 2011), http://www.ojjdp.gov/ojstatbb/ezacjrp/asp/Offense_Sex.asp?state=0&topic=Offense_Sex&year=2006&percent=column#maincontent; see also

- Meeting the Challenges Faced by Girls in the Juvenile Justice System: Hearing Before the Subcomm. on Healthy Families and Communities of the H. Comm. on Educ. and Labor, 111th Cong. 11 (2010) (statement of Francine Sherman) [hereinafter Meeting the Challenges].
- 12 Meeting the Challenges, supra note 11, at 10.
- 13 Meda Chesney-Lind & Randall G. Shelden, Girls, Delinquency, and Juvenile Justice ___ (2nd ed.1998).
- 14 Charles Puzzanchera, *Juvenile Arrests* 2008, JUVENILE JUSTICE BULLETIN (Office of Juvenile Justice & Delinquency Prevention, Washington, D.C.), Dec. 2009, at 3.
- 15 See, e.g., Chesney-Lind et al., supra note 7, at 163; Am. Bar Ass'n & Nat'l Bar Ass'n, Justice by Gender: The Lack of Appropriate Prevention, Diversion, and Treatment Alternatives for Girls in the Justice System 12-13 (2001); Christy Sharp & Jessica Simon, Girls in the Juvenile Justice System: The Need for More Gender-Responsive Services 21-23 (2004).
- 16 See e.g., Barbara E. Bloom & Stephanie S. Covington, Effective Gender-Responsive Interventions in Juvenile Justice: Addressing the Lives of Delinquent Girls 2 (2001).
- 17 The Valid Court Order exception allows children to be detained for violating a court order not to commit any further status offenses. Act 4 JUVENILE JUSTICE, JUVENILE JUSTICE AND DELINQUENCY PREVENTION ACT (JJDPA)
 RECOMMENDATIONS AND BACKGROUND 6 (2009), available at http://www.act4ji.org/media/factsheets/factsheet 56.pdf.
- 18 Id.
- 19 Francine T. Sherman, Pathways to Juvenile Detention Reform: Detention Reform and Girls, Challenges and Solutions 22-23 (2005).
- 20 Id.
- 21 Elizabeth Cauffman et al., Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Among Female Juvenile Offenders, 37 J. Am. Acad. Child and Adolescent Psychiatry 1209, 1212 (1998), available at http://www.ncmhjj.com/resource_kit/pdfs/Prevalence/References/PTSDFemale.pdf.

- 22 Vanessa Patino et al., A Rallying Cry for Change: Charting a New Direction in the State of Florida's Response to Girls in the Juvenile Justice System 35, 41 (2006).
- 23 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, former Girls' Program Manager, Court Support Services Division, to author (Mar. 21, 2012, 11:17 EST) (on file with author).
- 24 Leslie Acoca, Are Those Cookies for Me Or My Baby? Understanding Detained and Incarcerated Teen Mothers and Their Children, Juv. & Fam. Ct. J., Spring 2004, at 67 (reporting findings from Leslie Acoca & Kelly Dedel, No Place to Hide: Girls in the California Juvenile Justice System (1998)).
- 25 Id.
- 26 Patino et al., supra note 22, at 9.
- 27 Id. at 42.
- 28 Id. at 41.
- 29 Id. at 42.
- 30 Id.
- 31 See Chesney-Lind et al., supra note 7, at 167.
- 32 Advancement Project, Test, Punish, and Push Out: How "Zero Tolerance" and High-Stakes Testing Funnel Youth into the School-to-Prison Pipeline 3-5 (2010), available at http://www.advancementproject.org/sites/default/files/publications/rev_fin.pdf.
- 33 ERICA J. ADAMS, HEALING INVISIBLE WOUNDS: WHY INVESTING IN TRAUMA-INFORMED CARE FOR CHILDREN MAKES SENSE 6 (2010), available at http://www.justicepolicy.org/images/upload/10-07_REP_HealingInvisibleWounds_JJ-PS.pdf.
- 34 Lynn Wu, Why Do We Need Gender-Responsive Assessments, Programs and Services for Justice-Involved Girls? 7 (2010).
- 35 Marty Beyer et al., A Better Way to Spend \$500,000: How the Juvenile Justice System Fails Girls, 18 Wis. Women's L.J. 51, 52 (2003).
- 36 Pub. L. No. 102-586, 106 Stat. 4982 (codified as amended at 42 U.S.C. §§ 5601-5681 (2006)); Office of Juvenile Justice & Delinquency Prevention, Juvenile Female Offenders: A Status of the States Report [hereinafter Status of the States] (1998), available at http://www.ojjdp.gov/pubs/gender/oview-3.html.

- 37 The Act required states to include in their analysis of juvenile crime problems "an analysis of gender-specific services for the prevention and treatment of juvenile delinquency, including the types of such services available and the need for such services; [and] a plan for providing needed gender-specific services for the prevention and treatment of juvenile delinquency." 42 U.S.C. § 5633(a)(7)(B)(i-ii).
- 38 42 U.S.C. 5667c (repealed 2002).
- 39 State Challenge Activities were added as Part E of Title II of the JJDP Act, Section 285(B)(2). Under Challenge Grant E states could receive financial support for "(E) developing and adopting policies to prohibit gender bias in placement and treatment and establishing programs to ensure that female youth have access to the full range of health and mental health services, treatment for physical or sexual assault and abuse, self-defense instruction, education in parenting, education in general, and other training and vocational services, *supra* note 36.
- 40 STATUS OF THE STATES, supra note 36.
- 41 Id.
- 42 Id.
- 43 See generally Am. Bar Ass'n & Nat'l Bar Ass'n, supra note 1.
- 44 SHERMAN, supra note 19, at 4.
- 45 About the Girls Study Group, GIRLS STUDY GROUP, http://girlsstudygroup.rti.org/index.cfm?fuseaction=dsp_study (last visited June 13, 2012).
- 46 Berkeley Center for Criminal Justice, Gender Responsiveness and Equity in California's Juvenile Justice System 8 (2010), available at http://www.law.berkeley.edu/img/Gender_Responsiveness_and_Equity.pdf.
- 47 Girls in the Juvenile Justice System: Strategies to Help Girls Achieve their Full Potential: Hearing Before the Subcomm. on Crime, Terrorism, & Homeland Security of the H. Comm. on the Judiciary, 111th Cong. (2009), available at http://judiciary.house.gov/hearings/printers/111th/111-77_52941.PDF.
- 48 Meeting the Challenges, supra note 11.
- 49 Current Projects, NAT'L COUNCIL ON CRIME & DELINQUENCY, http://www.nccdglobal.org/what-we-do/center-for-girls-and-young-women/current-projects (last visited June 13, 2012).

- 50 Listening Sessions: Frequently Asked Questions, NATIONAL GIRLS INSTITUTE, http://juvjustice.org/media/resources/public/resource_590.pdf (last visited June 13, 2012).
- 51 COALITION FOR JUVENILE JUSTICE, SAFEGUARDING THE FUTURE: FEDERAL JUVENILE JUSTICE LEADERSHIP FOR AMERICA'S YOUTH, FAMILIES AND COMMUNITIES 2 (2012), available at http://www.juvjustice.org/media/announcements/announcement_link_171.pdf.
- 52 See N.Y. State Juvenile Justice Advisory Group, Tough on Crime: Promoting Public Safety by Doing What Works 29 (2010).
- 53 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, *supra* note 23.
- 54 OFFICE OF JUVENILE JUSTICE & DELINQUENCY
 PREVENTION, OJJDP FY 2011 EVALUATION OF GIRLS'
 DELINQUENCY PROGRAMS (2010), available at http://www.
 ojjdp.gov/grants/solicitations/fy2011/OJJDP%20FY%20
 11%20EvalGirlsDelinquency.pdf
- 55 There is still room for improvement, however—as of September 2011, only two organizations had applied for and received evaluation grants, for a total of \$753,556. Office of Juvenile Justice & Delinquency Prevention, OJP Awards By Solicitation and State: OJJDP FY 2011 Evaluation of Girls' Delinquency Programs (2011).
- 56 Sherman, supra note 19, at 53.
- 57 System Initiatives for Girls, SANCTIONS UPDATE 2008 (Conn. Court Support Servs. Div., Wethersfield, Conn.), Winter 2008, at 5-6.
- 58 Nat'l Juvenile Justice Network & Conn. Juvenile Justice Alliance, Turning It Around: Successes and Opportunities in Juvenile Justice 4 (2009), available at http://www.njjn.org/uploads/digital-library/turning.pdf [hereinafter Turning It Around].
- 59 Id.
- 60 Id. at 5.
- 61 Id.
- 62 ELEANOR LYON & ROBIN SPATH, COURT INVOLVED GIRLS IN CONNECTICUT 1 (2002).
- 63 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, *supra* note 23.In 1998, Connecticut's juvenile justice system had jurisdiction for those under age 16, with the adult criminal justice system having jurisdiction for those 16 and over. This has since changed with juvenile justice jurisdiction reform. TURNING

- It Around, supra note 58, at 7.
- 64 See Eleanor Lyon & Robin Spath, Court Involved Girls in Connecticut 31 (2002).

- 65 *Id.* at 30. Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi was at the helm of these efforts from 1999 through 2011.
- 66 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, *supra* note 23.
- 67 Id.
- 68 Id.
- 69 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, to author (Aug. 2011) (on file with author).
- 70 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, supra note 23.
- 71 Turning It Around, supra note 58, at 8.
- 72 System Initiatives for Girls, SANCTIONS UPDATE 2008, supra note 57 at 7.
- 73 Center for Best Practices, Sanctions Update Spring 2002 (Conn. Court Support Servs. Div., Wethersfield, Conn.), Spring 2002, at 6.
- 74 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, *supra* note 23; H.R. 6147, 2001 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Conn. 2001).
- 75 H.R. 6147, 2001 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Conn. 2001).
- 76 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, supra note 23.
- 77 ELEANOR LYON & ROBIN SPATH, COURT INVOLVED GIRLS IN CONNECTICUT (2002).
- 78 Id.
- 79 Id. at 110, 137.
- 80 Id. at 70.
- 81 *Id.* at 13. Connecticut refers to status offenders as children from "Families With Service Needs" (FWSN).
- 82 *Id.* at 2-3.
- 83 System Initiatives for Girls, SANCTIONS UPDATE 2008, supra note 57 at 9-11. This report offers a detailed account of Connecticut's reform efforts, and can be found here: http://www.jud.ct.gov/cssd/pub/SU_winter08.pdf.
- 84 Id. at 11.
- 85 Id. at 8.
- 86 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, supra note 23.

- 87 Marty Beyer, A System of Services for Girls in Connecticut 52 n.1 (2005). Improvements in programs and services for girls in the juvenile justice system were happening alongside improvements to co-ed programs and facilities as well. From 2003 to 2004, the state-operated detention system received accreditation from two leading correctional organizations, the National Commission on Correctional Health Care and the American Correctional Association, in recognition of its adherence to high standards. *History | Milestones*, Sanctions Update 2008 (Conn. Court Support Servs. Div., Wethersfield, Conn.), Winter 2008, at 10.
- 88 H.B. 5366, 2004 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Conn. 2004).
- 89 DCF GIRLS' SERVICES STEERING COMMITTEE, PLAN FOR A CONTINUUM OF COMMUNITY BASED SERVICES FOR FEMALE STATUS OFFENDERS AND DELINQUENTS 67-97 (2005), available at http://www.ct.gov/dcf/lib/dcf/juvenile_services/pdf/dcf_girls_services_action_plan_2nd_edition%5B1%5D.pdf.
- 90 Court Support Services Division, STATE OF CT. JUDICIAL BRANCH, http://www.jud.ct.gov/cssd/juvprob.htm (last visited June 27, 2012).
- 91 Juvenile Services, DEP'T OF CHILDREN & FAMILIES, http://www.ct.gov/dcf/cwp/view.asp?a=2550&q=314444 (last visited June 27, 2012).
- 92 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, supra note 23.
- 93 System Initiatives for Girls, Sanctions Update 2008, supra note 57, at 9-11.
- 94 Id.
- 95 H.B. 6978, 2005 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Conn. 2005) (amending Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46b-148 (2007)).
- 96 Id.
- 97 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, supra note 23.
- 98 S.B. 703, 2006 Leg. Reg. Sess. (Conn. 2006).
- 99 H.B. 5846, 2006 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Conn. 2006).
- 100 The Tow Foundation, The Power of Advocacy 8 (2011).
- 101 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, supra note 23.
- 102 System Initiatives for Girls, Sanctions Update 2008 supra note 57, at 6.
- 103 Id.

- 104 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, supra note 23.
- 105 Id.
- 106 Id.
- 107 Id.
- 108 System Initiatives for Girls, Sanctions Update 2008, supra note 57, at 9.
- 109 Child Welfare League of Am., The Connecticut Juvenile Justice Strategic Plan: Building Toward a Better Future 26 (2006).
- 110 Connecticut Selected for Juvenile Justice Improvement Program, CSSD CHRONICLE (Conn. Court Support Servs. Div., Wethersfield, Conn.), July 2011, at 1.
- 111 PATINO ET AL., supra note 22, at 17.
- 112 E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, Senior Researcher, Nat'l Council on Crime & Delinquency (May 15, 2012, 16:19 EST) (on file with author).
- 113 Id.
- 114 Id.
- 115 Leslie Acoca et al., Educate or Incarcerate: Girls in the Florida and Duval County Juvenile Justice Systems (2000), *available at* http://stoneleighfoundation.org/sites/default/files/Educate%20Or%20Incarcerate_0.pdf.
- 116 Patino et al., supra note 22, at 17.
- 117 E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, Senior Researcher, Nat'l Council on Crime & Delinquency (May 24, 2012, 21:59 EDT) (on file with author).
- $118\,$ Children's Campaign, Inc., Justice for Girls: Blueprint for Action 11 (2009).
- 119 E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, Senior Researcher, supra note 112.
- 120 What We Do, The Child. Campaign, http://www.iamforkids.org/who-we-are/what-we-do/ (last visited June 19, 2012).
- 121 NCCD Center for Girls & Young Women, NAT'L COUNCIL ON CRIME & DELINQUENCY, http://nccdglobal.org/what-we-do/center-for-girls-young-women (last visited June 19, 2012).
- 122 E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, supra note 112.

- 123 Patrick Griffin et al., Trying Juveniles as Adults: An Analysis of State Transfer Laws and Reporting, JUVENILE OFFENDERS & VICTIMS: NAT'L REP. SERIES (Off. of Juvenile Justice & Delinquency Prevention, Washington, D.C.), Sept. 2011, at 18, 25.
- 124 S.B. 2112, 2011 Leg. (Fla. 2011).
- 125 Youth v. Polk County Sheriff, No. 8:12-cv-00568-SDM-MA (M.D. Fla. filed Mar. 21, 2012).
- 126 Youth v. Polk County Sheriff, S. POVERTY L. CENTER, http://www.splcenter.org/get-informed/news/southern-poverty-law-center-files-lawsuit-against-polk-county-sheriff-to-end-abuse (last visited June 19, 2012).
- 127 Leslie Acoca et al., supra note 115
- 128 Id. at 16, 19.
- 129 Patino et al., supra note 22, at 17.
- 130 Id.
- 131 Id. at 18.
- 132 Id.
- 133 H.B. 1989, 2004 Leg. (Fla. 2004); S.B. 2732, 2004 Leg. (Fla. 2004). These bills amended Fla. Stat. § 985.02 (2011).
- 134 PATINO ET AL., supra note 22, at 19.
- 135 E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, Senior Researcher, *supra* note 114.).
- 136 Id.
- 137 PATINO ET AL., supra note 22, at 20.
- 138 E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, Senior Researcher, Nat'l Council on Crime & Delinquency (Mar. 30, 2012, 17:16 EST) (on file with author).
- 139 CHILDREN'S CAMPAIGN, INC., JUSTICE FOR GIRLS: BLUEPRINT FOR ACTION 11 (2009).
- 140 OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOV'T ACCOUNTABILITY, GENDER SPECIFIC SERVICES FOR DELINQUENT GIRLS VARY ACROSS PROGRAMS, BUT HELP REDUCE RECIDIVISM (2005); OFFICE OF PROGRAM POLICY ANALYSIS & GOV'T ACCOUNTABILITY, GENDER SPECIFIC SERVICES FOR DELINQUENT GIRLS VARY ACROSS PREVENTION, DETENTION, AND PROBATION PROGRAMS (2005).
- 141 PATINO ET AL., supra note 22, at 31.
- 142 Id.

- 143 Id. at 34.
- 144 CHILDREN'S CAMPAIGN, INC., supra note 139, at 5-6 (2009).
- 145 *Id.*). A grant from the Florida Bar Foundation made this work possible. *Id.*
- 146 E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, supra note 138.
- 147 CHILDREN'S CAMPAIGN, INC. supra note 139, at 11 (2009).
- 148 Duval Girls Initiative Seeds Robust Work in Duval County, 2010 Issue 2 (Women's Giving Alliance, Jacksonville, Fla.), Nov. 2010, at 1-2. That assessment was conducted by Dr. Lawanda Ravoira and Bonnie Rose; Vanessa Patino Lydia worked on the report and data analysis. E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, *supra* note 114.
- 149 E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, *supra* note 112. Funding came from both the Jessie B. DuPont Fund and the Women's Giving Alliance. *Duval Girls Initiative Seeds Robust Work in Duval County*, 2010 ISSUE 2 (Women's Giving Alliance, Jacksonville, Fla.), Nov. 2010, at 2.
- 150 NCCD Center for Girls & Young Women, NAT'L COUNCIL ON CRIME & DELINQUENCY, http://nccdglobal.org/what-we-do/center-for-girls-young-women (last visited June 19, 2012).
- 151 Justice for All Girls: Alternative Services Program for Girls Launches in SW Florida, Newsletter (NCCD Center for Girls & Young Women, Jacksonville, Fla.), Dec. 2009, at 4.
- 152 Id. at 5.
- 153 *The PACE Model*, PACE, http://pacecenter.org/about/pace-model (last visited Feb. 3, 2012).
- 154 Girl Matters™ Becomes Model for Gender-Responsive Programming, Newsletter (NCCD Center for Girls & Young Women, Jacksonville, Fla.), Dec. 2009, at 3.
- 155 THE CHILDREN'S CAMPAIGN, 2012 LEGISLATIVE PLATFORM 8 (2012).
- 156 Girl MattersTM: It's Elementary, NAT'L COUNCIL ON CRIME & DELINQUENCY, http://www.nccdglobal.org/whatwe-do/center-for-girls-and-young-women/direct-service-program-models/girl-matters-it-s-elementary (last visited June 18, 2012).
- 157 S.B. 1540, 2009 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Fla. 2009) (amending Fla. Stat. § 1002.20 (2011) to strike all references to "zero tolerance," and instead stating that students should be expelled and referred to law enforcement only for "serious criminal offenses").

- 158 S.B. 2568, 2010 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Fla. 2010).
- 159 S.B. 524, 2012 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Fla. 2012) (prohibiting restraints on pregnant women during labor, delivery and postpartum recovery).
- 160 H.B. 99, 2012 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Fla. 2012) (Safe Harbor Act).
- 161 See Little Hoover Comm'n, Juvenile Justice Reform: Realigning Responsibilities 69-70 (2008).
- 162 Jesse Jannetta & Jeffrey Lin, The Role of the DJJ in the California Juvenile Justice System (Working Paper) 1 (2007), available at http://ucicorrections.seweb.uci.edu/files/The%20Role%20of%20the%20DJJ%20in%20the%20CA%20Juvenile%20Justice%20System.pdf.
- 163 Noor Dawood, Juvenile Justice at a Crossroads: The Future of Senate Bill 81 in California (2009), available at http://prisonlaw.com/pdfs/SB81report.pdf.
- 164 Id.
- 165 *Id.*; Amended Complaint for Injunctive and Declaratory Relief, Farrell v. Harper, No. RG03079344 (Super. Ct. Cal. Nov. 19, 2004).
- 166 S.B. 81, 2007-08 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Cal. 2007).
- 167 STANISLAUS COUNTY GIRLS JUVENILE JUSTICE INITIATIVE, IMPROVING SERVICES FOR JUSTICE INVOLVED GIRLS: STRATEGIC PLAN 2 (2010), available at http://www.prisonlaw.com/pdfs/StrategicPlan.pdf.
- 168 Id. at 4.
- 169 E-mail from Lynn Wu, Staff Attorney, Prison Law Office, to author (May 2, 2012, 17:50 EST) (on file with author).
- 170 Id.
- 171 Lynn Wu, Girls Juvenile Justice Initiative: Stakeholder Survey Analysis 1 (2010), available at http://www.prisonlaw.com/pdfs/StakeholderSurvey.pdf.
- 172. Id.
- 173 E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, supra note 117.
- 174 Lynn Wu, supra note 171.
- 175 Stanislaus County Girls Juvenile Justice Initiative, *supra* note 167
- 176 Id. at 2.
- 177 *Id.* at i. This is a departure from the standard practice of detaining girls who pose a risk of harm to themselves even if

- they do not pose a risk of harm to others.
- 178 Id at 21.
- 179 Id. at 1.
- 180 *Major Cases & Achievements*, Prison Law Office, www.prisonlaw.com/cases.php#juvi.
- 181 E-mail from Lynn Wu, supra note 169.
- 182 E-mail from Lynn Wu, Staff Attorney, Prison Law Office, to author (May 23, 2012, 11:21 EDT) (on file with author).
- 183 Major Cases & Achievements, supra note 180.
- 184 E-mail from Lynn Wu, supra note 182.
- 185 Id.
- 186 Major Cases & Achievements, supra note 180.
- 187 Id.
- 188 Id.
- 189 Id.
- 190 Id.
- 191 Id.
- 192 E-mail from Lynn Wu, supra note 169.
- 193 Major Cases & Achievements, supra note 180.
- 194 E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, NCCD Senior Researcher (May 2012) (on file with author).
- 195 E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, supra note 117.
- 196 Vanessa Patino et al., supra note 22.
- 197 E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, supra note 138.
- 198 Leslie Acoca, Introduction to the National Girls Health Screen Project 1 (2005), available at http://njjn.org/uploads/digital-library/resource_247.pdf.
- 199 E-mail from Lynn Wu, supra note 182.
- 200 Id.
- 201 Major Cases & Achievements, supra note 180.
- 202 Fla. Dept. of Juvenile Justice, Fiscal Year 2010-11 Annual Report 35 (2011).
- 203 System Initiatives for Girls, Sanctions Update 2008, supra note 57 at 8.
- 204 STANISLAUS COUNTY GIRLS JUVENILE JUSTICE INITIATIVE, IMPROVING SERVICES FOR JUSTICE INVOLVED GIRLS 22 (2010).

- 205 Major Cases & Achievements, supra note 180.
- 206 CHILDREN'S CAMPAIGN, INC., supra note 139, at 11
- 207 Id.
- 208 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, supra note 23.
- 209 See, e.g., CHILDREN'S CAMPAIGN, INC., supra note 139.
- 210 Stanislaus County Girls Juvenile Justice Initiative, Improving Services for Justice Involved Girls 21-34 (2010).
- 211 CHILDREN'S CAMPAIGN, INC., *supra* note 139; e-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, *supra* note 138.
- 212 CHILD WELFARE LEAGUE OF AM., THE CONNECTICUT JUVENILE JUSTICE STRATEGIC PLAN: BUILDING TOWARD A BETTER FUTURE 3 (2006).
- 213 Stanislaus County Girls Juvenile Justice Initiative, Improving Services for Justice Involved Girls 2-3 (2010), available at http://www.prisonlaw.com/pdfs/StrategicPlan.pdf.
- 214 Id. at 1.
- 215 CHILDREN'S CAMPAIGN, INC., supra note 139, at 16-30.
- 216 Blueprint Commission, Getting Smart About Juvenile Justice Reform in Florida 51-57 (2008).
- 217 Id. at 5.
- 218 E-mail from Lynn Wu, supra note 182.
- 219 ALA. CODE § 41-9-1060 (2011); H.M. 13, 49th Leg., 1st Sess. (N.M. 2009).
- 220 H.B. 1989, 2004 Leg. (Fla. 2004); S.B. 787, 2011 Leg. (Md. 2011); H.M. 13, 49th Leg., 1st Sess. (N.M. 2009); H.B. 1758, 77th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Tex. 2001).
- 221 H.B. 6147, 2001 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Conn. 2001); H.B. 1989, 2004 Leg. (Fla. 2004); S.B. 467, 23rd Leg. (Haw. 2005); MINN. STAT. § 241.7 (2010).
- 222 H.B. 6147, 2001 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Conn. 2001); S.B. 1500, 2007 Leg., June Spec. Sess. (Conn. 2007).
- 223 H.B. 1989, 2004 Leg. (Fla. 2004)
- 224 E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, supra note 138.
- 225 E-mail from Vanessa Patino Lydia, supra note 117.
- 226 System Initiatives for Girls, Sanctions Update 2008, supra note 57, at 8.
- 227 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, supra note 23.
- 228 Id.

- 229 Available Training Curricula, NAT'L COUNCIL ON CRIME & DELINQUENCY, http://www.nccdglobal.org/what-we-do/center-for-girls-and-young-women/gender-responsive-training-curricula-and-practical-too-0 (last visited June 18, 2012).
- 230 Major Cases & Achievements, supra note 180.
- 231 E-mail from Lynn Wu, supra note 182.
- 232 CONN. GEN. STAT. § 46b-148 (2007).
- 233 CONN. GEN. STAT. § 46b-149e (2007).
- 234 System Initiatives for Girls, SANCTIONS UPDATE 2008, supra note 57 at 9-11. A Family with Service Needs (FWSN) is a family that includes "a child who a) runs away without just cause; b) is beyond the control of his/her parents or guardian; c) has engaged in indecent or immoral conduct; d) is truant or habitually truant or continuously and overtly defiant of school rules and regulations; and/or e) has engaged in illegal sexual intercourse."
- 235 Id.
- 236 E-mail from Lynn Wu, supra note 182.
- 237 Id. at 6.
- 238 Girl MattersTM: It's Elementary, NAT'L COUNCIL ON CRIME & DELINQUENCY, http://www.nccdglobal.org/whatwe-do/center-for-girls-and-young-women/direct-service-program-models/girl-matters-it-s-elementary (last visited June 18, 2012).
- 239 Id.
- 240 Id.
- 241 System Initiatives for Girls, Sanctions Update 2008, supra note 57, at 8.
- 242 E-mail from Kim Sokoloff Selvaggi, Friday, June 8, 2012, 11:25 am (on file with author).
- 243 Model Programs Guide: Gender Specific Programming, Office of Juvenile Justice & Delinquency Prevention, http://www.ojjdp.gov/mpg/progTypesGenderSpecificProgramming.aspx (last visited June 18, 2012).
- 244 STANISLAUS COUNTY GIRLS JUVENILE JUSTICE INITIATIVE, IMPROVING SERVICES FOR JUSTICE INVOLVED GIRLS i (2010), available at http://www.prisonlaw.com/pdfs/StrategicPlan.pdf.

245 Margaret A. Zahn & Sharon Mihalic, Girls Study Group: Program Review 31 (2008), available at http://girlsstudygroup.rti.org/docs/Blueprints_Program_Review_Zahn.pdf.

246 Id.

- 247 STANISLAUS COUNTY GIRLS JUVENILE JUSTICE INITIATIVE, IMPROVING SERVICES FOR JUSTICE INVOLVED GIRLS 2-3, supra note 167.
- 248 Making Detention Gender Specific for Girls: Three Important Steps, Sanctions Update 2008, supra note 57, at 8.

249 Id.

- 250 E-mail from Lynn Wu, supra note 182.
- 251 Margaret A. Zahn & Sharon Mihalic, Girls Study Group: Program Review 29 (2008), available at http://girlsstudygroup.rti.org/docs/Blueprints_Program_Review_Zahn.pdf.
- 252 See History / Milestones, Sanctions Update 2008, supra note 57, at 5.
- 253 Office of Juvenile Justice & Delinquency Prevention, OMB No. 1121-0329, OJJDP FY 2010 National Girls Institute 3 (2009).
- 254 42 U.S.C.A. § 1320a-9 (Westlaw through P.L. 112-127).
- 255 See Sherman, supra note 19, at 71.
- 256 42 U.S.C. § 5633 (2006).
- 257 See H.R. 5326, 112th Cong., 2d Sess. (2012).

258 U.S. Gov't Accountability Office, GAO-09-721R, Juvenile Justice: Technical Assistance and Better Defined Evaluation Plans Will Help to Improve Girls' Delinquency Programs 9 (2009).

259 42 U.S.C. 5667c (repealed 2002).

260 See Nat'l Juvenile Justice & Delinquency Prevention Coal., Recommendations for Juvenile Justice Reform: Opportunities for Action in the 112th Congress 6-7 (2011) (providing an in-depth explanation of the Valid Court Order exception and the required legislative fix).

261 Id.

262 Id. at 2.

263 NCCD CTR. FOR GIRLS & YOUNG WOMEN, SHACKLING OF PREGNANT YOUNG WOMEN AND GIRLS IN CORRECTIONAL SYSTEMS 1-2 (2012).

264 28 C.F.R. § 115 (2012).

265 42 U.S.C. § 15607(b)(2) (2006).

266 28 C.F.R. §§ 115.14, 115.114 (2012).

267 NAT'L JUVENILE JUSTICE & DELINQUENCY PREVENTION COAL., RECOMMENDATIONS FOR JUVENILE JUSTICE REFORM: OPPORTUNITIES FOR ACTION IN THE 112TH CONGRESS (2011). The authors endorse these recommendations.

